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Our Strategy 
We hold steadfast to the strategy of creating 
shareholder value, delivering profit growth and 
long-term business sustainability. The four 
pillars of this strategy are Growth, Productivity, 
Sustainability and developing a Winning 
Organisation.

Growth 
CARRERAS Limited continues to focus on key 
strategic segments of the market that offer the 
best prospects for long term-growth, including 
driving our premium segment. We also believe 
that it is important to continue to develop and 
utilise innovative, differentiated products and 
offer our consumers added value from our 
brands.

Productivity 
The Company’s overall approach to productivity 
is about using our global resources to increase 
profits and generate funds for reinvesting in our 
business.

Sustainability
We will continue to balance our commercial 
objectives with the expectations of a broad 
range of stakeholders, thus ensuring a 
sustainable business.

Winning 
Organisation
We are confident about our strategies for 
Growth, Productivity and Sustainability, 
but to deliver our vision we must also have 
the right people and the right working 
environment. That is the essence of the 
Winning Organisation strategy.
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Our Vision
Our vision is to achieve and 
maintain leadership of the 
Jamaican Tobacco Industry 
in order to create long-term 
shareholder value. 
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We are

BOLD

OUR ETHOS

We are

FAST

We are

EMPOWERED

We are

DIVERSE

We are

RESPONSIBLE

In 2020, we transformed the Guiding 
Principles at CARRERAS to Our ETHOS 
which forms the core of our culture and 
guides how we deliver our strategy.
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We dream big  and share innovative ideas. We make tough 
decisions quickly and proudly stand accountable for them. We 
are resilient & fearless in beating the competition.

Speed matters. We set clear direction and move fast.  We keep 
it simple and focus on outcomes. We learn quickly and share 
learnings.

We set the context for our teams and trust their expertise. We 
challenge each other. Once in agreement, we commit collectively. 
We collaborate and hold each other accountable to deliver.

We value different perspectives. We build on each other’s ideas, 
knowledge and experiences. We challenge ourselves to be open-
minded and to recognise unconscious bias.

We take action to reduce the health impact of our business. We 
ensure the best quality products for our consumers, the best place to 
work for our people and the best results for our shareholders.

We act with integrity, never compromising our standards and ethics.
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Performance Highlights
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Notice Of Annual General Meeting
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1. To receive the Audited Financial Statements and 
the Reports of the Directors and Auditors for the 
year ended March 31, 2022.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution: “THAT the audited Financial Statements 
and the Reports of the Directors and Auditors for the 
year ended March 31, 2022, be and are hereby adopted.”

2. To appoint Auditors and authorise the Directors to 
fix the remuneration of the Auditors.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution: “THAT KPMG, Chartered Accountants, 
having signified their willingness to serve, continue in 
office as Auditors of the Company to hold office until 
the conclusion of the next Annual General Meeting 
at a remuneration to be fixed by the Directors of the 
Company.”

3. To elect Directors

(a) Mr. Laurent Meffre and Mrs. Nirala Singh are due to 
retire in accordance with the provisions of Article 101 of 
the Articles of Incorporation and, being eligible, offers 
themselves for re-election.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolutions: 

i. “THAT Mr Laurent Meffre be and is hereby re-
elected a Director of the Company.”

ii. “THAT Mrs. Nirala Singh be and is hereby re-
elected a Director of the Company.”

(b) Ms. Verona Williamson was appointed a Director of 
the Company since the last Annual General Meeting 
of the Company and, being eligible, offers herself for 
election.

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution: “THAT Ms. Verona Williamson be and is hereby 

elected a Director of the Company.” 

4. To approve the remuneration of the Non-Executive 
Directors:

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution: “THAT the amounts shown in the Financial 
Statements of the Company for the year ended March 
31, 2022, for emoluments received by the Non-Executive 
Directors for their services as Directors be and is hereby 
approved.”

5. To approve and ratify dividends:

To consider and (if thought fit) pass the following 
Resolution: “THAT the interim dividends of $0.25 paid 
on Jun. 23, 2021; $0.16 paid on Aug. 25, 2021; $0.21 paid on 
Dec. 30, 2021; and $0.23 paid on Mar. 24, 2022, making 
a total of $0.85 for the Year, be and are hereby ratified.”

6. To consider any other business which may properly 
be transacted at an Annual General Meeting 

By Order of the Board

Verona Williamson

Company Secretary

Registered Office: 13A Ripon Road, Kingston 5.

May 30, 2022

Notice is hereby given that the Sixtieth Annual General Meeting of the Stockholders of CARRERAS 

LIMITED will be held at the AC Hotel on Friday, September 9, 2022, at 2:00 p.m. for the following purposes:

Important Notice for Members who are not able to attend:  
Any member of the Company entitled to attend and vote at this Meeting can appoint one or more proxies to attend and vote 
in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a member. Where a proxy is appointed by a corporate member, the form of proxy should 
be executed under seal.  A suitable Form of Proxy is enclosed.       

To be valid, the form of proxy must be completed and deposited with the Registrar and Transfer Office: Sagicor Bank Jamaica 
Limited, Group Legal Trust & Corporate Services, 28 – 48 Barbados Avenue, Kingston 5, not less than forty-eight (48) hours 
(excluding non-business days) before the time fixed for holding the meeting.  The form of proxy should bear stamp duty of 
$100.00.  The stamp duty may be paid by stamps which should be affixed to the form.



Corporate  Data
LOCATION
CARRERAS LIMITED
13A Ripon Road
Kingston 5
Telephone:  749 9800
Fax:        906 9284
E-Mail:  Carreras@bat.com
Website: www.carrerasltd.com

DEPOTS:
35½ Hagley Park Road, Kingston 10
6 Allan Avenue, Port Antonio
1-2 Villa Road, Mandeville
Pembroke Commercial Complex, 
Lots 19 & 20, Fairfield Bouge, 
Montego Bay

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Patrick Smith      - Chairman
Raoul Glynn
Patrick McDonald
Laurent Meffre
Juan Carlos Restrepo Piedrahita
Nirala Singh
Paul Hanworth

MANAGEMENT TEAM 
Raoul Glynn,
Managing Director

Rogelio Paredes Flores,
Head of Finance

Verona Williamson,
Company Secretary

Kisha-Ann Brown,
HR Business Partner

Andre Pryce,
Head of Trade

Dwaine Williams,
Marketing Deployment Manager 
                  
Cammeca Cookhorn,
Legal & Government Affairs Manager

REGISTERED OFFICE:           
13A Ripon Road, Kingston 5

AUDITORS:       
KPMG,6 Duke Street, Kingston

BANKERS:       
National Commercial Bank Jamaica Limited
The Atrium, 32 Trafalgar Road, Kingston 10
       
REGISTRAR AND 
TRANSFER OFFICE:
Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited 
Group Legal Trust & Corporate Services 
R. Danny Williams Building 
28 – 48 Barbados Avenue,
Kingston 5
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Dear Shareholders,

Like Jamaica, Carreras Limited celebrates its 
60th anniversary this year, and there is no 
doubt that we can be proud of the Company's 
remarkable performance and our sustained role 
in nation-building.  

Despite the global pandemic, the Company 
has maintained its momentum to deliver 
outstanding performance for 2022, affirming 
that opportunity exists in adversity.

With an all-time high revenue of $15.8 billion or 
13% over the prior year, our Company delivered 
earnings per share of 83.9¢ versus 77.0¢ in 
2021. In addition, the distribution of dividend 
payments totalling $4.1 billion or 85.0¢ per share 
represents a 21% increase over the prior year. 
Overall, the Company's profit grew by 9% as 
we remain resolute in sustaining and delivering 
shareholder value.

Through a revolutionised portfolio, a robust 
route-to-market distribution system, and a 
passionate team, the Company has been able 
to drive strategic and operational success. 
And while illicit trade continues to be one 
of the significant risks in the industry, the 
Government of Jamaica's continued support 
of the legal market has enabled the success of 
our excise strategy. The Company is committed 
to improving the legal tobacco landscape and 
will continue to drive awareness through active 
engagement with the government, regulators, 
and private sector stakeholders.

OUR OUTLOOK
We have approached the past two years with 
uncommon resilience, and there is a clarity 
of purpose as we set our ambitions for the 
future. Throughout the BAT Group, executing a 
decisive environmental, social and governance 
(ESG) strategy is a priority as we seek to 
respond to climate change through excellence 
in environmental management, make a positive 
social impact and ensure robust governance.

In accelerating the transformation of our 
portfolio, our agenda includes the introduction 
of our reduced-risk portfolio of New Category 
products and claiming opportunities beyond 
nicotine that will become a substantial driver 
for operational performance. Above all, we 
are committed to building a high-growth, 
consumer-centric, multi-category company.

On behalf of my fellow Directors, we extend the 
Board's appreciation to the management and 
staff for acting on the mission and delivering 
exceptionally for 2022. We look forward to 
continued growth as we set our sights on 
another 60 years and "A Better Tomorrow."

Patrick Smith
Chairman

Chairman’s Message
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1990s-early 2000s

Our beloved Chairman in his 
capacity as General Manager of the 
Jamaica Biscuit Company Limited.

“...we are 
humbled that we 
were one of the 
first companies 
opened in an 
independent 
Jamaica in 1962.”

THROUGH THE YEARS
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PATRICK A. H. SMITH, Chairman

Mr. Smith has been the Chairman of Carreras since November 11, 2021.

OTHER APPOINTMENTS:  Mr. Smith is a Director of CAC2000 Limited, for which he is the Chairman of the 
Remuneration Committee and Member of the Audit Committee. He was previously a Director at the Export-Import 
Bank of Jamaica, and Jamaica Promotions Limited, and Chairman of Things Jamaican Limited/Devon House, and 
Vice President of the Jamaica Exporters Association.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE: Mr. Smith has deep business and industry expertise developed over 30 years working in 
the Caribbean and Europe. He has had several executive roles in the British American Tobacco network, including 
Global Account Manager for Dunhill Cigars in Switzerland, and Caribbean Business Unit Director in Trinidad. 
Formerly a Director of both West Indian Tobacco Company Limited in Trinidad and Carreras Limited in Jamaica, Mr. 
Smith served as the Chairman of Demerara Tobacco Company Limited in Guyana and Carisma Marketing Services 
in St. Lucia. Prior to joining BAT, he was the General Manager of the Jamaica Biscuit Company Limited.

QUALIFICATIONS: Mr. Smith holds a BSc. in Public Administration from the University of the West Indies Mona 
and an MBA from Nova Southeastern University.

COMMITTEES: Chairman, Nominations and Compensations Committee; and Member, Audit Committee.

Board of Directors
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RAOUL GLYNN, Managing Director

Mr. Glynn was appointed as Managing Director of Carreras Limited on February 1, 2020. 

OTHER APPOINTMENTS: Member of the Board of Directors of Demerara Tobacco Company since February 2017.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE: Raoul has previously held the position of Country Manager at Carisma Marketing Services, 
with responsibility for the general management of 21 markets of the English, French and Dutch speaking Caribbean, 
the largest volume base in the area. Raoul distinguished himself through his performance in various roles, beginning 
with that of Executive at West Indian Tobacco Company in Trinidad in 2002; Area Manager, Carisma Marketing 
Services Unit in January 2004; Trade Marketing and Distribution Manager at Demerara Tobacco (DTC) Guyana, 
another BAT subsidiary in April 2006. Raoul was seconded to Carreras in Jamaica where he led a team which 
achieved positive volume performance in the market. His BAT career continued in February 2012 with the role of 
Marketing Operations Manager of British American Tobacco Pars in Iran and then, in February 2014, following a 
short stint in the Middle East Area, Dubai, Raoul assumed the role of Business Development Manager in Costa 
Rica, with responsibility for the Trade Marketing, Distribution and Activation portfolio for Central America and the 
Caribbean, leading a strong efficiencies agenda in the region.

QUALIFICATIONS: BA., University of the West Indies, St. Augustine Campus.

COMMITTEES: Director, Demerara Tobacco Company, Guyana; Participant, Audit Committee, NOMS Committee, 
Corporate Governance Committee – Carreras Ltd; Member, Carreras Ltd Superannuation Fund.
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N. PATRICK MCDONALD, Director

Mr. McDonald has been a Director of Carreras Limited 
since September 1, 2021.

OTHER APPOINTMENTS: Director of Television Jamaica 
Limited, Independent Radio Company Limited, and other 
broadcast media companies forming part of the RJR 
Gleaner Group. Director of Portland JSX Limited and Do 
Good Jamaica Limited.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE:  Mr. McDonald is an Attorney-
at-Law and a Partner at the Jamaican law firm, Hart 
Muirhead Fatta. He practices mainly in the area of 
corporate and commercial law, and his experience 
includes capital markets transactions, mergers and 
acquisitions, corporate reorganizations, financing 
transactions, corporate governance, as well as matters in 
the bauxite and alumina sector. Since 2020, he has served 
as the Honorary Legal Counsel of the Private Sector 
Organisation of Jamaica (“PSOJ”). He is a past member of 
the Corporate Governance Committee of the PSOJ and 
conducts training in public and private sector corporate 
governance from time to time, including as part of the 
Jamaica Stock Exchange e-Campus programme. He has 
served as an associate tutor at the Norman Manley Law 
School for a number of years and has been consistently 
named as one of the leading commercial attorneys 
in Jamaica by Chambers Global, the internationally 
recognised legal directory.

QUALIFICATIONS:  Admitted to practice in Jamaica in 
1993. Bachelor of Laws (Hons.) awarded by the University 
of the West Indies and Legal Education Certificate, after 
attending the Norman Manley Law School.

COMMITTEES: Chairman, Corporate Governance 
Committee; Member, Audit Committee.

NIRALA NANDINI SINGH, Director

Mrs. Singh was appointed as a Director of Carreras 
Limited on February 12, 2020.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE: Nirala is currently the 
Commercial Finance Controller for Latin America 
North and the Caribbean Business Unit of British 
American Tobacco, based in Mexico. She has more 
than 15 years’ experience working with the BAT 
Group across a wide range of Finance roles, such as 
Internal Audit, Commercial Finance and Corporate 
Finance, as well as Global Shared Services. Nirala 
has significant experience in working in above 
market and end market roles, in strategic planning 
for complex and emerging markets, and also in 
leading large teams. She has held roles across a 
number of countries including Trinidad and Tobago, 
Costa Rica, Vietnam and now Mexico. In her current 
role, she has the Commercial Finance responsibility 
for 33 markets which includes pricing and resource 
allocation strategy. In her current and previous 
roles, Nirala has had to work across multiple 
geographies, with a wide range of internal and 
external stakeholders to drive the commercial and 
finance agenda toward enabling long term market 
sustainability. Nirala has served in the past on prior 
Boards of Directors for other BAT entities and has 
significant corporate governance experience in this 
regard. 

QUALIFICATIONS: MBA, Finance with Honors from 
Michigan University; Fellow of the Association of 
Chartered Certified Accountants (ACCA).

COMMITTEES: Member, Audit Committee.
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JUAN CARLOS RESTREPO PIEDRAHITA, Director

Mr. Restrepo, a non- executive Director, was appointed 
to the Board of Directors of Carreras Limited on July 
24, 2019. 

OTHER APPOINTMENTS: Non-executive President 
for a Communication and Strategy Consulting Firm.

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE: Mr. Restrepo first joined 
British American Tobacco in 1996 as a Legal Advisor. 
Throughout his initial 14-year employment with the 
company, he held several senior positions including 
serving as the Regional Counsel in Brazil, the Director 
of Legal, Corporate and Regulatory Affairs in Colombia, 
and the Director of Corporate and Regulatory Affairs 
in Venezuela. Mr. Restrepo went on to work with his 
home Government of Colombia, serving as Director 
for the Counter Narcotics National Directorate, 
the Inspector General of the National Directorate 
of Intelligence, Director-General of the Prison & 
Penitentiary Services, as well as National Security 
Advisor for the President of Colombia, at which time 
he was also appointed as a Presidential Delegate for 
the implementation of the Peace Agreement with 
the FARC Guerrilla in Colombia. He was welcomed 
back to BAT in January 2019 to serve as the Legal & 
External Affairs Director for the SANCAR area. Mr. 
Restrepo is fluent in English, Portuguese and Spanish.

QUALIFICATIONS: LLB, Diploma in Competition Law, 
and two Master’s degrees in National Defence & 
Security and International Contracting.

COMMITTEES: Member, Corporate Governance 
Committee.

LAURENT MEFFRE, Director

Mr. Meffre was appointed to the Board of Directors of 
Carreras on March 23, 2020.

OTHER APPOINTMENTS: Managing Director, West 
Indian Tobacco Company (WITCO). 

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE: In his role as Managing Director 
of WITCO, Mr. Meffre manages 24 Caribbean markets 
through its British American Tobacco Associates. Prior 
to his appointment as Managing Director, he served in 
several senior roles within the British American Tobacco 
Group, including General Manager, Lagos, Nigeria (West 
African markets), where he had responsibility for 25 
markets. Mr. Meffre also held the position of Chairman 
of the Board of Directors of British American Tobacco 
Ghana, Benin and Cameroon. Over his 24 years in the 
British American Tobacco Group, he has amassed a 
wide range of experience in the key functional areas of 
Strategic Planning, Marketing, Operations and Human 
Resource Management. He brings with his experience 
a proven track record of Talent Management and 
Human Resource Development which will redound to 
the efficiency and productivity of the Commercial and 
Operations side of the business and facilitate continued 
growth in the local and regional markets.

QUALIFICATIONS: BA (Hons), Business Administration 
(Business Strategy & Operations Management); 
French Baccalaureate Economics (Hons); National Dip. 
Marketing (International Trade & Marketing Finance); 
National Dip. Sales & Marketing.

COMMITTEE: Member, Nominations and 
Compensation Committee.
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PAUL R. HANWORTH, Director

Mr. Hanworth has been a Director of Carreras since September 20, 2021.

OTHER APPOINTMENTS: Director of PanJam Investment Limited (PanJam), an investment 
holding company listed on the Jamaican Stock Exchange, and Director / Trustee of many of 
its principal subsidiary and associated companies and its pension plan; Director and Audit 
Committee member of Sagicor Group Jamaica Limited and Sagicor Life Jamaica Limited, and 
Chairman of the Group Risk Committee; Independent Director, Audit Committee Chairman, and 
Investment Committee member of British Caribbean Insurance Company Limited; Chairman, 
National Health Fund Pension Plan; Director, Rainforest Seafoods Limited; Director of First 
Angels Jamaica Limited; and Investor Director of two angel-funded companies. 

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE: Mr. Hanworth worked for PanJam for 15 years, initially as Chief Financial 
Officer before becoming Chief Operating Officer and Deputy Chief Executive Officer. In those 
roles he spearheaded several add-ons and fresh acquisitions and expanded the Group’s private 
equity portfolio. Prior to PanJam, Mr. Hanworth founded, ran, and subsequently sold Jamaica’s 
pre-eminent fine wine import and distribution company. He started his career in Jamaica in 
1998 with ICD Group, where he restructured its finances and operations, being directly involved 
in the restructuring of the Group’s debt with a prominent New York investment bank and the 
disposition of several business units. Mr. Hanworth began his career at KPMG in the UK, prior 
to moving to the USA in 1979 where he worked for the firm for 10 years and for Diageo for 
9 years, including two years in South Africa from 1994 to 1996. During his career at Diageo, 
he gained considerable experience in M&A and divestitures as well as financial controllership, 
financial and strategic planning, and treasury.

QUALIFICATIONS:  Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales 
(FCA); Member of the American Institute of certified Public Accountants (AICPA); BA and MA 
(Classics) from Cambridge University; MSc (Management) Rensselaer Polytechnic Institute.

COMMITTEES: Chairman, Audit Committee.
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1990s-early 2000s

VERONA WILLIAMSON, Company Secretary

Verona Williamson was appointed as Company 
Secretary on February 11, 2022. 

SKILLS & EXPERIENCE: She initially joined the company 
as Senior Finance Analyst in 2014 and in 2017 was 
seconded to the West Indian Tobacco Company (WITCO) 
as Finance Business Partner – Operations. Verona 
returned to Jamaica in 2018 and assumed the role of 
Commercial Finance Manager which she held until her 
departure in 2019. In June 2020, she re-joined Carreras as 
Finance Planning Manager and was later appointed as 
the Corporate Finance Manager for the WITCO Exports 
Unit in April 2021.  Verona has over 16 years’ experience in 
Auditing and Accounting. She is a Chartered Accountant 
and a Fellow of the Institute of Chartered Accountants of 
Jamaica, as well as the UK based Association of Chartered 
Certified Accountants.

QUALIFICATIONS: Association of Chartered Certified 
Accounts (ACCA) and Bachelor of Science in Management 
Studies and Accounts from the University of the West 
Indies, Mona Campus.

THROUGH THE YEARS
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Directors’ Report

The Directors are pleased to submit their Report and Audited Financial Statements for the year ended 

March 31, 2022. The following are selected highlights:

FINANCIAL RESULTS  
    
 Year ended Year ended
 31-Mar-22 31-Mar-21
 $’000 $’000

Revenue 15,754,978 13,971,292

Profit before Income tax 5,428,621 4,959,898

Net Profit for the year attributable to stockholders 4,073,279 3,738,276

Revenue Reserves at beginning of year 1,979,182 1,651,136

Total Revenue Reserves 6,052,461 5,389,412

Appropriations have been made as follows:      
Dividends and distributions (4,126,240)  (3,398,080)            

Defined benefit plan actuarial gain/(loss), net of tax 38,925  (12,150)          

Unappropriated profits for the year 1,965,146  1,979,182      

Earnings per stock unit 83.91¢ 77.01¢

The following payments were made during the year

First quarter ended June 30, 2021      $0.25 per stock unit       

Second quarter ended September 30, 2021         $0.16 per stock unit 

Third quarter ended December 31, 2021        $0.21 per stock unit  

Fourth quarter ended March 31, 2022    $0.23 per stock unit

No further final dividend payment is proposed in respect of 2021/2022. 

The Directors have approved an interim dividend of $0.23 per stock unit, to be paid on July 5, 
2022. 

Auditors 
KPMG have expressed their willingness to continue in office as Auditors and offer themselves 
for re-appointment
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Shareholdings

TEN LARGEST SHAREHOLDERS AS AT MARCH 31, 2022

Rothmans Holdings (Caricom) Limited 2,446,508,260

National Insurance Fund 214,184,690

Sagicor Pooled Equity Fund 179,484,650

SJIML A/C 3119 107,854,360

JCSD Trustee Services Ltd - SIGMA EQUITY 102,518,376

L.B.J. Overseas Limited 102,117,115

Resource In Motion Limited (R.I.M.) 80,134,852

GraceKennedy Pension Fund Custodian Limited - for GraceKennedy Pension Scheme 78,648,740

Sagicor Select Fund Ltd - ('Class C' Shares) Manufacturing & Distribution 51,556,419

NCB Insurance Co. Ltd. A/C WT 109 47,500,000

DIRECTORS AND CONNECTED PERSONS

DIRECT CONNECTED PARTY TOTAL

Mr. Patrick Smith 173,320 Nil 173,320

Mr. Paul Hanworth Nil Nil Nil

Mr. Novar Patrick McDonald 320,000 Nil 320,000

Mr. Raoul Glynn Nil Nil Nil

Mr. Laurent Meffre Nil Nil Nil

Mr. Juan Carlos Restrepo Piedrahita Nil Nil Nil

Mrs. Nirala Singh Nil Nil Nil

EXECUTIVE & SENIOR MANAGEMENT

DIRECT CONNECTED PARTY TOTAL

Mr. Raoul Glynn Nil Nil Nil

Mr. Rogelio Paredes Flores Nil Nil Nil

Mr. Dwaine Williams Nil Nil Nil

Ms. Cammeca Cookhorn Nil Nil Nil

Ms. Verona Williamson Nil Nil Nil

Ms. Kisha-Ann Brown Nil Nil Nil

Mr. Andre Pryce Nil Nil Nil

There has been no change in the Directors’ stockholding interests occurring between the end of the Company’s financial year 
and the date of the Notice convening the Annual General Meeting.

At no time during or at the end of the financial year has any Director had any material interest in any contract or arrangement in 
relation to the business of the Company.

Carreras Annual Report  | 22



Our Policies and Business Principles 
Our Business Principles cover the key issues that 
we believe underpin the way we operate as a tobacco 
business. Together, the three principles below form 
the basis on which we expect our business to be run 
in terms of responsibility. 

The Principle of Mutual Benefit

This Principle is the basis on which we build 
relationships with our stakeholders. We are primarily in 
business to build long-term shareholder value and we 
believe the best way to do this is to seek to understand 
and take account of the needs of all our stakeholders.

The Principle of Responsible Product 
Stewardship

This Principle is the basis on which we meet consumer 
demand for a legal product that is generally accepted 
as a cause of serious diseases. Therefore, our products 
and brands should be developed, manufactured and 
marketed in a responsible manner.

The Principle of Good Corporate Conduct

This Principle is the basis on which our business 
should be managed. Business success brings with it an 
obligation to high standards of behaviour and integrity 
in everything we do and wherever we operate. These 
standards should not be compromised for the sake of 
results.

Below are the (3) three main principles which guide the 
way we market and distribute our brands responsibly:

1. Our marketing will be responsible, accurate 
and not misleading

2. Our marketing will be directed at adult 
consumers

3. Our marketing will make it clear that it 
originates from British American Tobacco 
(BAT) and that it is intended to promote the 
sale of our brands.

Our Standards of Business Conduct

Our Standards of Business Conduct express the high 
standards of business integrity that BAT requires from 
employees worldwide. The Standards of Business 
Conduct set out specific guidelines which provide 

support and guidance for employee conduct. Whistle 
blowing procedures are also put in place so that any 
employee who suspects wrongdoing can raise his/her 
concern in confidence.

The Standards cover six broad areas which govern 
general business conduct, as well as provide guidance 
for employees in making appropriate decisions and 
judgments in the course of work. 

Each employee is expected to know, understand and 
practice the standards, as appropriate, and review 
and sign in accordance with the policy, on an annual 
basis. During the year, as part of the annual employee 
sign off process, all employees completed a short 
training course on the Standards, either through the 
Standards of Business Conduct e-learning portal or 
through presentations shared by their respective line 
managers. The areas covered are:

1. Whistleblowing;

2. Personal and Business Integrity;

3. Workplace and Human Rights;

4. Public Contributions;

5. Corporate Assets and Financial Integrity;

6. National and International Trade. 

Anti-Bribery and Corruption Procedure

In 2018, BAT successfully deployed several key 
initiatives to empower employees and business units 
across the Group to better identify and mitigate 
challenges related to key compliance areas such 
as anti-bribery and anti-corruption (ABAC) laws. To 
raise awareness of these issues with employees, an 
e-learning was delivered to a targeted cross-functional 
global audience selected on the basis of their potential 
interaction with government officials. To complement 
this, employee webcasts were also hosted for BAT 
managers across the world.

Additionally, to assist business units in identifying 
Standards of Business Conduct related issues (in 
particular relating to bribery and corruption) in 
connection with third parties retained in subsidiary 
Companies like Carreras, a new Third-Party Procedure 
was launched during the year. This procedure mandates 
a consistent methodology for pre-contractual due 
diligence on prospective third-party business partners 
and is complemented by mandatory 
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1992

Carreras Group Limited. Making a 
major contribution to Jamaica.

THROUGH THE YEARS

Carreras Annual Report  | 24

mitigation packages (such as training and contractual clauses) 
for minimum and high-risk third parties.

This due diligence also provides a retrospective review of third 
parties with which the Company did business before the Third-
Party Procedure came into effect.

Our Environmental Policy

We are committed to meeting consumer needs in an 
environmentally responsible and sustainable way. We are also 
committed to operating responsibly in both the direct operations 
that we control, and throughout the wider supply chain that 
we influence. Responsibility is one of the cornerstones of our 
strategy, and we believe that good environmental practice is 
good business practice.

We will comply with all legal and regulatory requirements 
governing environmental management, implement 
environmental management practices internally and 
monitor compliance to them.

Our Health and Safety Policy

We recognize the paramount importance of the health, safety, 
and welfare of all employees and non-company personnel 
in the successful conduct of our business. We are therefore 
committed to the prevention of injury and ill-health and strive for 
continual improvement in our health and safety management 
and performance, through setting clear objectives, including the 
monitoring and measurement of key performance indicators.

British American Tobacco believes in the active participation 
of each employee and others as appropriate in promoting, 
achieving, and maintaining the highest standards of health 
and safety, in so far as it is reasonably practicable.

Framework for Corporate Social Investment

We are committed to giving back to the communities in which 
we operate. We also encourage our employees to play an 
active role both in their local and business communities. Our 
Corporate Social Investment Policy is supported by the BAT 
Group Strategic Framework for corporate and social initiatives 
(CSI), which sets out the Group’s CSI strategy and how local 
operating companies are to develop, deliver and monitor 
community investment programmes within three themes:
*Sustainable Agriculture                 
 * Environment              
 *Empowerment and Civic Life

Supplier Code of Conduct

The BAT Supplier Code of Conduct sets out the minimum 
standards group companies expect of suppliers. Our ultimate 
goal is to drive the continuous improvement of standards within 
our supply chain and as such, we are committed to working with 
such suppliers over time to help them achieve adherence with 
the requirements of this Code.
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POLICIES / 
PRINCIPLES

SUMMARY AREAS COVERED KEY STAKEHOLDER

BAT Standards of 
Business Conduct

Anti-bribery and corruption, conflicts of interest, and 
entertainment and gifts. Respect in the workplace, including 
promoting equality and diversity, preventing harassment 
and bullying, and safeguarding employee wellbeing. Respect 
for human rights, including prevention of child labour and 
exploitation of labour, and respect for freedom of association. 
Political contributions and charitable contributions. Financial 
integrity, accurate accounting and record-keeping, and 
information security. Anti-illicit trade, competition and anti-
trust, and sanctions compliance. Whistleblowing.

Employees and
contractors, 
Governments and
regulators, local
communities and
society

Health and Safety 
Policy

Health, safety and welfare of all employees, other members 
of our workforce and third-party personnel.

Employees and
contractors, suppliers,
business partners, 
farmers, local
communities and
society

Environmental 
Policy

Our commitment to carrying out our business in an 
environmentally responsible and sustainable way, including 
agricultural, manufacturing and distribution operations.

Employees and 
contractors, suppliers, 
business partners, 
farmers, local 
communities and 
society

Employment 
Principles 

Employment practices, including commitments to diversity, 
reasonable working hours, family friendly policies, employee 
wellbeing, talent, performance and equal opportunities, and 
fair, clear and competitive remuneration and benefits.

Group employees

Supplier Code of 
Conduct

Standards required ofsSuppliers of BAT operating 
Companies worldwide, including business integrity, anti-
bribery and corruption, environmental sustainability and 
respect for human rights (covering equal opportunities and 
fair treatment, health and safety, prevention of harassment 
and bullying, child labour and exploitation of labour, and 
freedom of association).

Suppliers and business 
partners, employees
and contractors, local 
communities and
society

Strategic 
Framework for 
corporate social 
investment

Sets our BAT Group strategy and framework for Corporate 
Social Investment 

NGOs and
development agencies, 
local communities and 
society

International 
Marketing Principles 

Provides a consistent and responsible approach to marketing 
our products

Employees, suppliers, 
agents and third-parties

For more information on our policies and principles, please visit our website www.carrerasltd.com.
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Corporate Governance

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

As a responsible and transparent listed company, the 
Board of Directors that provides oversight for Carre-
ras Limited (CL), consider good corporate governance 
practices an important feature for effective operations. 

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT:

a) CL is committed to maintaining the highest lev-
el of transparency, accountability and integrity 
in all its operations and will ensure the mainte-
nance of high ethical standards by all members 
and employees of the company which are in 
tandem with the organization’s vision & mis-
sion “to achieve and maintain leadership of the 

Jamaican Tobacco industry in order to create 

long term shareholder value”. 

b) Each Director is required to act honestly and in 
good faith and to ensure that the organisation 
carries out its activities within its prescribed 
mandate or objectives. Additionally, the Direc-
tors have collective responsibility for all strategic 
decisions made by the Board of Directors.  

THE BOARD’S MANDATE

The Board of Directors of CL is collectively responsible 
for the success of the company. The Board remains 
committed to providing entrepreneurial leadership of 
CL within a framework of prudent and effective con-
trols which enables risks to be assessed and managed. 
The Board is responsible for:

a) Overseeing CL’s strategic aims; 

b) Ensuring that the necessary financial and 
human resources are in place for CL to 
meet its objectives; 

c) Reviewing management performance; and 

d) Upholding the company’s values and stan-
dards and ensures that its obligations to 
the company’s shareholders and others are 
understood and met.

General Comportment:

The Board shall use its best efforts to ensure that: 

(a) its members can act critically and indepen-
dently of one another; 

(b) each Director can assess the broad outline of 
the Company’s overall policy;

(c) each Director’s expertise is fully utilized in the 
performance of his or her role as a Director;

(d) the Board competencies match the compe-
tency profile of the Company; and

(e) the Board has adequate independent non-
executive and executive Directors.

Independent Board member:

An independent non-executive Director is someone 
who based on criteria agreed by the Board includes: 

(a) a Director that has not within the last three 
years been an employee of the Company or 
a related company;

(b) a Director that has not within the last three 
years had a material business relationship 
with the Company either directly or as a 
shareholder, Director or senior employee 
of a body that has a relationship with the 
Company either as a supplier, a customer 
or competitor of the Company;

(c) a Director that has not within the last three 
years received additional remuneration 
from the Company (apart from a Director’s 
compensation) nor participated in the Compa-
ny’s  performance-related pay scheme;

(d) a Director whose spouse, child(ren) or 
dependent(s) are not advisors, Directors or 
senior employees of the Company; and

(e) a Director who does not represent a signifi-
cant shareholder (holding more than 5% of 
the issued securities of the issuer).
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Appointment of Directors:

There is a formal, rigorous and transparent procedure 
for the appointment of new Directors to the Board. 
Appointments to the Board are made on merit and 
against objective criteria. Care is also taken to ensure 
that appointees have enough time available to devote 
to the job. This is particularly important in the case of 
chairmanship.

 
INDUCTION PROGRAMME, ONGOING TRAINING 
AND EDUCATION

Director Induction Programme:

(a) Upon appointment, each Director shall partici-
pate in an induction programme that covers 
the Company’s strategy, general financial and 
legal affairs, financial and regulatory reporting 
by the Board, any specific aspects unique to CL 
and its activities, and the responsibilities and 
expectations of a Director. 

(b) The training of Directors is critical to ensure the 
maintenance of good governance. The Board, 
through the Corporate Governance Commit-
tee, will recommend such ongoing training for 
Directors as is necessary for them to maintain 
the knowledge and expertise required to bet-
ter understand the operations of CL and to 
properly discharge their roles and functions 
as Directors. The cost of such training shall 
be included in the budget for the year.  

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE BOARD 

There is a clear division of responsibilities at the head 
of the company between the running of the Board 
and the executive responsibility for the running of the 
company’s business.  No one individual has unfettered 
powers of decision. 

Chairman of the Board:

The Chairman of the Board is responsible for the 
leadership of the Board ensuring its effectiveness on 
all aspects

of its role and setting its agenda; and is the principal 
contact for the Managing Director who shall meet  
regularly with the Chairman.

The Chairman of the Board is also responsible for 
maintaining effective communication protocols with 
shareholders and stakeholders as required. 

The Chairman ensures that:

(a) Directors, when appointed, participate in an in-
duction programme and, as needed, additional 
education or training programmes; 

(b) Directors receive all information necessary for 
them to perform their duties; 

(c) Directors receive accurate, timely and clear 
information:

(d) Directors have sufficient time for consultation 
and decision-making;

(e) Orderly succession planning for directors and 
senior management; 

(f) Committees function properly and according 
to their respective Terms of Reference;

(g) The performance of the overall Board and 
individual Directors are evaluated at least once 
every year;

(h) The Board establishes and maintains the 
agreed protocols for communication with the 
organisation’s management;

(i) The Board establishes operating procedures 
for its meetings;

(j) The Board fulfils its duties to all key stakehold-
ers and promotes sustainability; 

(k) The agendas of Board meetings are in order 
and that minutes are kept of such meetings; 
and

(l) Internal disputes and conflicts of interest con-
cerning individual Directors are addressed and 
resolved.

DIRECTORS

The Directors shall act in the best interests of the Com-
pany and its business, taking into consideration the in-
terests of the Company’s shareholders. Directors shall 
perform their duties independent of any particular in-
terest in the Company and should not support one in-
terest without regard to the other interests involved. 
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Secretary is the Secretary of the Board and its 
Committees and assists the Board in the execution 
of critical administrative and governance functions 
which demand a high degree of compliance and ethi-
cal conduct.

The Company Secretary plays a key role in assisting all 
Directors to obtain the information they need to carry 
out their roles effectively. She is responsible for ensur-
ing that Board processes and procedures are appropri-
ately followed and that they support effective decision 
making and governance in accordance with the Com-
panies Act. 

ANNUAL  EVALUATION

Board & Directors Evaluation:

The Board will conduct an annual performance evalu-
ation of each Director, the Board on a whole and the 
Chairman. The evaluation process will be conducted in 
accordance with procedures established by the Board, 
on the recommendation of the Corporate Governance 
Committee, and shall evaluate performance in line 
with the Company’s set goals and objectives and may 
also include setting out the goals and objectives of the 
Company for the upcoming year.

Managing Director & Company Secretary Evaluation:

The performance of the Managing Director and the 
Company Secretary are to be evaluated annually by the 
Board led by the Chairman. 

SUPERVISION OF FINANCIAL REPORTING

General Supervision Responsibilities:

(a) The Board, in consultation with the Audit Com-
mittee, supervises compliance with written 
procedures for the preparation and publication 
of the annual report and quarterly unaudited fi-
nancial accounts and any other financial infor-
mation. 

(b) The Board, through the Audit Committee, 
also supervises the internal control and audit 
mechanisms for external financial reporting.

Recommendations by External Auditor:

The Board shall carefully consider and, if accepted, put 
into effect any recommendation by the external audi-
tor. This will include recommendations made by the 
external auditor on the Company’s internal controls, as 
expressed in the ‘management letter.’

Reports to the Board:

The Audit Committee shall report its dealings with the 
external auditor to the Board on an annual basis, in-
cluding its assessment of the external auditor’s inde-
pendence. 

Assessment of External Auditor:

At least once every three years, the Audit Committee 
shall conduct a thorough assessment of the function-
ing of  the external auditor in the various entities and 
capacities in which the external auditor acts. The main 
conclusions of this assessment shall be communicat-
ed to the Board so it may assess the nomination for the 
reappointment of  the external auditor. 

The Board currently has established the following com-
mittees to govern areas of its operations:                                  

฀	 Corporate Governance Committee  

฀	 Audit Committee 

฀	 Nomination & Compensation Committee  

BOARD COMMITTEES

Committee Chairman

The Board Committee Chairman is responsible for the 
leadership of the respective Board committees and 
that each respective Board committee executes on 
their respective charters and mandates, as approved 
by the Board.  The Board Committee Chairman is also 
responsible for: 

a. fixing the agenda for the relevant Board com-
mittee meetings and to ensure that all relevant 
matters are tabled for consideration (as re-
quested by the members of that committee, 
the wider Board, or otherwise);

b. reporting to the Board at each Board meeting; 
and

c. reporting to the shareholders.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE (CGC)

Relationship with the Board and other committees

The role of the CGC and its relationship with the Board 
and other committees is as set out in the Charter ap-
proved by the Board and to the extent that the CGC un-
dertakes tasks on behalf of the Board, the results are 
reported to, and considered by, the Board. The CGC is 
charged with a review of the Board, its committees and 
their respective functions on an annual basis and to en-
sure that they execute their responsibilities efficiently 
and with transparency and accountability.

AUTHORITY & RESPONSIBILITES

The Committee shall support the Board in the adminis-
tration and exercise of the Board’s management of the 
Company by carrying out the following:

Corporate Governance Principles

•	 Developing,	recommending	and	reviewing	cor-
porate governance principles applicable to the 
Board.

•	 Ensuring	 that	 the	 Board	 and	 is	 committees	
are in compliance with all regulatory composi-
tion requirements, which shall include require-
ments for director independence.

•	 Reviewing,	no	less	than	once	annually,	the	ad-
equacy of the charters of the Board and its vari-
ous subcommittees, including the adequacy 
of this Charter, and submit to the Board any 
suitable recommendations in relation to the 
amendment of same.

•	 Reviewing,	 no	 less	 than	 once	 annually,	 the	
Company’s Articles of Incorporation and overall 
corporate governance policy and practices and 
submit to the Board any suitable recommenda-
tions in relation to the amendment of same.

•	 Preparing	 the	 annual	 Corporate	 Governance	
Statement for inclusion in the Company’s An-
nual Report to its shareholders.

•	 Ensuring	that	there	is	accurate,	timely	and	full	
financial governance reporting with strong in-
ternal controls and risk management.

•	 Ensuring	 that	 material	 information	 regarding	
the Company’s operations are disclosed in a 
timely manner to the public and regulatory en-
tities.

•	 Keeping	 abreast	 of	 the	 latest	 regulatory	 re-
quirements, trends and guidance in corporate 
governance and updating the Board on corpo-
rate governance issues, where necessary.

Evaluation of Board & its Committees – Structure, 
Composition and Function 

•	 Ensuring	that	the	Board	 is	structured	and	se-
lected to ensure effectiveness, independence 
and protection of the public’s interests through 
appropriate selection and operating processes.

•	 Establishing	 and	 facilitating	 an	 effective	 pro-
cess for the annual evaluation of the Board and 
its committees, which shall include the devel-
opment of self-audit checklists which take into 
account their respective mandates and the 
level of contribution of individual directors. The 
Committee shall report to the Board the results 
of its annual evaluations and, based on those 
results, may make recommendations in re-
spect of the structure and effectiveness of the 
Board and any of its committees.

•	 Overseeing	the	development	and	implementa-
tion of a Board induction process for new direc-
tors and a programme of continuing director 
development and training, as needed.

•	 Considering	 possible	 conflicts	 of	 interests	 of	
directors and making relevant proposals to the 
Board in relation to its findings.

•	 Reviewing	 any	 change	 in	 status	 and	 profes-
sional affiliation of current directors, which 
shall include fulfilment of independence re-
quirements, and making relevant proposals to 
the Board in relation to its findings.

Meetings of the CGC

The Chairman of the CGC, in consultation with the 
Company Secretary, decide the frequency and timing 
of its meetings. 

The membership of the CGC during the 2021/2022 
financial year: 

Past: Mr. Matthew Hogarth (Chairman), Mr. Oliver 
Holmes and Mr. Juan Carlos Restrepo Piedrahita.  Mr. 
Raoul Glynn (Managing Director) and Mr. Bjorn Spen-
ce (Company Secretary) were permanent invitees.

Current: Mr. Patrick McDonald (Chairman), Mr. Patrick 
Smith and Mr. Juan Carlos Restrepo Piedrahita.  Mr. 
Raoul Glynn (Managing Director) and Ms. Verona Wil-
liamson (Company Secretary) are permanent invitees.
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The key activities include: 

       1. Review of the Charter of the Board and of the 
Committees to ensure that their composition, 
structure, policies and processes are in keeping 
with best practice standards and also to ensure 
adherence to the relevant legal and regulatory 
framework.

Checklists for all Committees were com-
piled to inform us of the various activities 
to be performed in a timely manner.

2. Strengthening of the Conflicts of Interest 
Policy and introduction of Conflicts of Inter-
est Register.

3. At the Company’s request, our Attorneys 
advised that no antecedent events had 
occurred in the past year and going into 
this year precipitated by the Companies 
Act etc. that required consideration by the 
Company. 

4. Directors’ Training to be interactive and a wide 
range of topics in relation to Corporate Gover-
nance.

      5. The Board’s annual Self Evaluation exercise fa-
cilitated by an independent external company.  
The evaluation measures the performance and 
effectiveness of the Board, its committees, the 
Executive and Non-Executive Directors and the 
Chairman. 

     6. Introduction of a Corporate Governance As-
sessment Tool to facilitate a review of the main 
Board by the Committee.

Looking Forward

The CGC shall continue to ensure that the Company is 
aligned with corporate governance best practices and 
that it continues its sterling reputation as a leader in 
this area.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

Relationship with the Board

The Audit Committee provides an independent finan-
cial review function to ensure that the Company ad-
heres to its governance mandate in the specific areas 
of accounting policies, internal controls, risk manage-
ment, financial compliance systems and procedures 
as well as financial reporting practices.

The role of the Audit Committee is for the Board to de-
cide and to the extent that the Audit Committee un-

dertakes tasks on behalf of the board, the results are 
reported to, and considered by, the board. In doing so it 
identifies any matters in respect of which it considers 
that action or improvement is needed and make rec-
ommendations as to the steps to be taken. 

The Board has established formal and transparent ar-
rangements for considering how they should apply the 
financial reporting and internal control principles and 
for maintaining an appropriate relationship with the 
company’s auditors.

SPECIFIC RESPONSIBILITES & DUTIES

I. To monitor the integrity of the financial state-
ments of the company;

II. Reviewing any formal announcements relating 
to the company’s financial performance and any 
significant financial reporting judgements con-
tained in them;

III. To review the company’s internal financial con-
trols and risk management systems and pro-
cesses;

IV. To monitor and review the effectiveness of the 
company’s internal audit function;

V. To make recommendations to the Board, for it to 
put to the shareholders for their approval in gen-
eral meeting, in relation to the appointment, re-
appointment and removal of the external auditor 
and to approve the remuneration and terms of 
engagement of the external auditor;

VI. To review and monitor the external auditor’s inde-
pendence and objectivity and the effectiveness 
of the audit process, taking into consideration rel-
evant professional and regulatory requirements;

VII. To develop and implement policy on the engage-
ment of the external auditor to supply non-audit 
services, taking into account relevant ethical 
guidance regarding the provision of non-audit 
services by the  external audit firm; and to report 
to the Board, identifying any matters in respect of 
which it considers that action or improvement is 
needed and making recommendations as to the 
steps to be taken.

VIII. To review arrangements by which staff of the 
company may, in confidence, raise concerns 
about possible improprieties in matters of finan-
cial reporting or other matters. The audit com-
mittee’s objective should be to ensure that ar-
rangements are in place for the proportionate 
and independent investigation of such matters 
and for appropriate follow-up action.
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The Audit Committee comprises of four members who 
are non-executive directors, the majority of whom is 
identified by the Board as independent directors. 

Meetings of the Audit Committee

The Chairman of the Audit Committee, in consultation 
with the Company Secretary, decide the frequency and 
timing of its meetings. 

Four (4) meetings are held during the year to coincide 
with key dates within the financial reporting and audit 
cycle.  The company’s external audit lead partner is in-
vited regularly to attend the meetings. 

The Audit Committee met with the external auditors, 
without management, to discuss matters relating to 
its remit and any issues arising from the audit.

The Committee members:

Past:  Mr. Michael Bernard (Chairman), Mr. Matthew 
Hogarth, Mr. Oliver Holmes and Mrs. Nirala Singh.  Mr.  
Raoul Glynn (Managing Director) and Mr. Rogelio Pare-
des Flores (Head of Finance) were permanent invitees.       

Current:  Mr. Paul Hanworth (Chairman), Mr. Patrick 
Smith, Mr. Patrick McDonald and Mrs. Nirala Singh.  
Mr.  Raoul Glynn (Managing Director) and Mr. Rogelio 
Paredes Flores (Head of Finance) were permanent in-
vitees                           

Key activities for financial year included:

฀	 Reviewed and after consultation with manage-
ment and external auditors, recommended to 
the Board, unaudited quarterly financial state-
ments and the 2022 audited annual financial 
statements for its approval and release to 
stockholders.

฀	 Recommended to the Board for approval:

o Dividend payments

o Related Party Transactions

o Key Business Risks

The Committee considered the following in making its 
recommendations:

v Reliability and integrity of the accounting prin-
ciples and practices, financial statements and 
other financial reporting;

v Internal audit functions of the Company;

v Risk management functions and processes of 
the Company;

v Qualifications, independence and perfor-
mance of the external auditors of the Com-
pany;

v System of internal controls and procedures es-
tablished by management and review of their 
effectiveness;

v The Company’s compliance with legal and 
regulatory requirements.

NOMINATION AND COMPENSATION 
COMMITTEE

Relationship with the Board

The Nomination & Compensation Committee  (NCC) 
of Carreras Limited has the responsibility of  determin-
ing the framework and policy on terms of engagement 
including the appointment and specific remuneration 
of each executive director and each member of the 
Senior Management Team [“Leadership Team”] of 
the company, including entitlements where applicable 
under the share incentive schemes and the pensions 
schemes and any compensation payments. Addition-
ally, the NCC will recommend board appointments and 
review fees payable to non-executive Directors and 
make the necessary recommendation to the Board 
as required. The NCC shall also collaborate and work 
closely with Carreras’ Corporate Governance Commit-
tee on related governance matters.  

Nomination and Succession

I. Develop and annually review the competency 
profile for the board of directors and submit 
recommendations to the Board.  

II. Ensure that the Board is structured, and Di-
rectors selected to foster effectiveness, in-
dependence and protection of the public’s 
interests through an appropriate selection 
and operating processes.

III. Make recommendations to the board on suit-
able candidates for appointment as board di-
rectors including executive directors.  

IV. Make recommendations to the board in spe-
cific regard to:

a) the re-appointment of any Non-execu-
tive Director at the conclusion of their 
specified term of office after reviewing 
the Director’s performance;
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b) the re-election by shareholders of any 
director under the retirement or by ro-
tation provisions in the Company’s Ar-
ticles of Incorporation; and

c)    the continuation in office of any Director at 
any time.

V. Develop and annually review a succession 
plan for Directors, the Chairman and the 
Managing Director.  

The quorum for a meeting is two (2) members with at 
least one being an independent non-executive director.

 
The Committee members:

Past:  Mr. Oliver Holmes (Chairman) Mr. Michael Ber-
nard and Mr. Matthew Hogarth. Mr.  Raoul Glynn was 
permanent invitee to the meetings.

Current: Mr. Patrick Smith (Chairman), Mr. Patrick Mc-
Donald and Mr. Laurent Meffre. Mr.  Raoul Glynn was 
permanent invitee to the meetings.

Key activities during the financial year

i) At the end of his assignment, the Head of 
Finance returned to the BAT Group. One of our 
Finance professionals returned to the Com-
pany from assignment within the BAT Group.  
A recommendation was made to the Board 
regarding her appointment as Finance Direc-
tor.

  ii)      On the resignation of the Company Secre-
tary, a recommendation was made to the  the 
Board regarding the appointment of a new 
Company Secretary.

 iii)     The Committee ratified the staff bonus pay-
ment for 2021 and offered its congratulations 
to the management and staff for delivering a 
good year’s results.

v)    The Committee ratified the salary increases 
which were implemented on April 1, 2022, 
based  on the annual compensation and ben-
efit survey results. 

Please note that our Corporate Governance guide-

lines are available on our website at 

www.carrerasltd.com

The table below provides details on the Directors’ attendance at Board and Committee Meetings: 

Name of Director Board Audit 
Committee

Nomination & 
Compensation 

Committee

Corporate 
Governance
Committee

Michael Bernard * 4 2 1 n/a

Raoul Glynn 13 4 5 2

Matthew Hogarth * 3 2 2 2

Oliver Holmes * 6 3 4 2

Laurent Meffre 13 n/a 1 n/a

Juan Carlos Restrepo Piedrahita 13 n/a n/a 2

Nirala Singh 13 3 n/a n/a

Patrick Smith ** 8 2 1 0

Paul Hanworth ** 9 2 n/a n/a

Patrick McDonald ** 9 2 0 0

* Retired/Resigned during the year

** Appointed during the year

Number of meetings held during the Financial Year

Board                      13
Audit Committee      4
Nomination and Compensation Committee   2 
Corporate Governance Committee   2
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Global Economy
The global economy entered 2022 in a more weakened 
position than previously expected by economists, as 
elevated levels of inflation derailed the Gross Domestic 
Product (GDP) targets of many countries. As the global 
economy shows signs of recovery from the impact of 
product shortages due to COVID-19, Carreras as well as 
other companies in the Fast-Moving Consumer Goods 
(FMCG) industry remains extremely optimistic in our 
ability to achieve solid commercial growth in the future. 

However, the conflict in Eastern Europe has added 
to the pressures on the global economy, contributing 
to higher than anticipated levels of inflation, driven by 
higher energy prices and shortages in commodities. 
The estimated GDP growth projected for 2022 is 3.6%, 
which is 2.5pp less than the actual growth seen in 2021.1 
The constant threat of new variants of COVID-19 and 
further escalation of the conflict in Europe have reduced 
consumer confidence and fueled speculations of a 
global economic contraction. We continue to closely 
monitor these events analyzing keenly the potential 
impact on our business, especially as it relates to the 
cost and availability of inputs used in the manufacturing 
of our brands.

Our Economy 
The Jamaican economy grew by 6.7% in the last quarter 
of 2021 when compared to the same period in 2020, 
evidencing some recovery from the COVID-19 pandemic. 
This growth was attributed to an overall increase in both 
goods producing and service industries of 0.9 percent and 
0.5 percent, respectively.  The relaxation of some COVID-19 
measures, including the re-opening of the entertainment 
sector, is one of the main reasons behind the expansion 
seen in the economy.3

At the end of March 2022, the point-to-point inflation was 
11.3%, higher than the Bank of Jamaica’s (BOJ’s) projected 
upper limit of 6%, as well as the point-to-point rate at 
the end of March 2021 of 5.2%. ‘Food and non-alcoholic 
beverages’ as well as ‘Housing, Water, Electricity, Gas and 

Other Fuels’ were the divisions driving this increase in the 
Consumer Price Index (CPI). The BOJ’s projected inflation 
outlook for fiscal year 2022, point-to-point, was 4% to 6%2 
to facilitate sustained growth development in Jamaica. 
The rise in input costs due to inflation is a visible risk for our 
company as further increases in inflation rates could erode 
our efforts to create value for our shareholders.

During the 2021/2022 financial year, the Jamaican dollar 
(JMD) devalued relative to the United States dollar (USD) 
at a rate of 4.3% which was a slower rate of devaluation 
compared to the 8.7% recorded in the prior financial year. 

Jamaica’s Net International Reverses (NIR) stood at 
US$3,675.85 million as at March 31, 2022, which denotes 
29.60 weeks of the country’s goods and services 
importation. This remains a position of strength for the 
local economy as it represents 21.51 weeks over the 
international benchmark of 12 weeks of goods imports 
and confirms the availability of foreign currency to enable 
and promote business transactions2 in the international 
markets.

In January 2022, the unemployment rate for Jamaica was 
6.2% which is 2.6pp lower than the same period last year. 
This reduction in the unemployment rate speaks to the 
continued recovery of some of the major industries in the 
country, especially tourism and other service sectors and 
acts as a potential for further stimulus for the country’s 
GDP and the achievement of the projected targets for 
2022. 

Management is constantly monitoring and assessing the 
macro-economic indicators for the likely impact on our 
Company, stockholders and stakeholders. Our robust and 
adoptive risk management framework was engaged in 
the design and implementation of policies and procedures 
aimed at mitigating the impact of any possible adverse 
movements.

Sources:

1. International Monetary Fund

2. Bank of Jamaica

3.  Statistical Institute of Jamaica

Operating Environment
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Our risk management framework supports our 
strategy for maintaining long-term sustainable growth.  
Effective management of these risks is crucial to the 
actualization of the Company’s Mission and Vision. Risks 
are managed on an enterprise-wide basis across core 
business processes, starting at the strategic planning 
level, through to execution, evaluation, and continuous 
monitoring.    

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for 
the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk 
management framework. During the year, the Directors 
carried out a robust assessment of the key risks and 
uncertainties facing the Company, including those that 
impact the strategic objectives, business model, future 
performance, solvency, or liquidity. Though the key risks 
facing the Company have changed slightly over the 
past year, our number one risk, tobacco regulation that 
inhibits growth strategy, remains unchanged.

In relation to capital management, the Company’s 
objectives are to safeguard its ability to continue 
as a going concern to provide returns and value for 
shareholders. The Board monitors the return on capital/ 
stockholders’ return on equity, which is defined as net 
operating income divided by shareholders’ equity. For 
the 2021/22 financial year, the return on capital was 
195% (2020/2021 - $178%).

The Board of Directors has no reason to believe that 
its policy to maintain a strong capital base to preserve 
investor, creditor, and market confidence and to sustain 
the future development of the business will not continue 
into the foreseeable future. 

Risk Management Approach
The Company has in place a Risk Management 
Committee (RMC), which is comprised of the senior 
management team and has responsibility for identifying, 
assessing, managing, and monitoring risks likely to 
face the Company as well as to implement effective 
mitigating controls to manage these risks.  Clear 
accountability is attached to each risk through the risk 
owner. The deliberations of RMC meetings are reported 
to the Board of Directors through the Audit Committee 
of the Board.

Carreras Limited believes that its risk appetite 
and tolerance limits are the foundation of its risk 
management framework, which ultimately establishes 
the risk culture for the Company.

Key Business Risks
Currently, there are several risks that were identified by 
the Company as significant enough to be monitored.  
These risks, along with management’s mitigation 
measures are assessed at least on a quarterly basis.  

Based on the Company’s risk appetite and risk tolerance, 
the Company actively manages the key business risks 
covering External Environment, Regulatory, People and 
Processes and Operational.

Key risks that the Directors believe to be the most 
important after assessment of the likelihood and 
potential impact on the business are highlighted below.  
Not all these risks are within the control of the Company 
and other factors besides those listed may affect the 
Company’s performance. Some risks may be unknown 
at the present and other risks, currently regarded as less 
material could become material in the future.

Risks:

� Tobacco regulation that inhibits growth 

strategy 

The enactment of, proposal for, or rumors of, regulation 
that is unbalanced and impractical, and significantly 
impairs the Company’s ability to communicate 
with consumers, differentiate our products in the 
marketplace and launch future products, poses a risk 
to the Company’s long-term sustainability. Particularly, 
this could lead to an adverse impact on the ability to 
compete within the legal tobacco industry and with 
increased illicit trade. 

Mitigation Activities: Proactive and robust stakeholder 
engagement and litigation strategy for balanced 
regulations. Ongoing monitoring of marketing plans to 
ensure compliance with internal self-regulations and 
local legislation. 

� Significant increase in tobacco excise 

Risk Management
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Our risk management framework supports our 
strategy for maintaining long-term sustainable growth.  
Effective management of these risks is crucial to the 
actualization of the Company’s Mission and Vision. Risks 
are managed on an enterprise-wide basis across core 
business processes, starting at the strategic planning 
level, through to execution, evaluation, and continuous 
monitoring.    

The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for 
the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk 
management framework. During the year, the Directors 
carried out a robust assessment of the key risks and 
uncertainties facing the Company, including those that 
impact the strategic objectives, business model, future 
performance, solvency, or liquidity. Though the key risks 
facing the Company have changed slightly over the 
past year, our number one risk, tobacco regulation that 
inhibits growth strategy, remains unchanged.

In relation to capital management, the Company’s 
objectives are to safeguard its ability to continue 
as a going concern to provide returns and value for 
shareholders. The Board monitors the return on capital/ 
stockholders’ return on equity, which is defined as net 
operating income divided by shareholders’ equity. For 
the 2021/22 financial year, the return on capital was 
195% (2020/2021 - $178%).

The Board of Directors has no reason to believe that 
its policy to maintain a strong capital base to preserve 
investor, creditor, and market confidence and to sustain 
the future development of the business will not continue 
into the foreseeable future. 

Risk Management Approach
The Company has in place a Risk Management 
Committee (RMC), which is comprised of the senior 
management team and has responsibility for identifying, 
assessing, managing, and monitoring risks likely to 
face the Company as well as to implement effective 
mitigating controls to manage these risks.  Clear 
accountability is attached to each risk through the risk 
owner. The deliberations of RMC meetings are reported 
to the Board of Directors through the Audit Committee 
of the Board.

Carreras Limited believes that its risk appetite 
and tolerance limits are the foundation of its risk 
management framework, which ultimately establishes 
the risk culture for the Company.

Key Business Risks
Currently, there are several risks that were identified by 
the Company as significant enough to be monitored.  
These risks, along with management’s mitigation 
measures are assessed at least on a quarterly basis.  

Based on the Company’s risk appetite and risk tolerance, 
the Company actively manages the key business risks 
covering External Environment, Regulatory, People and 
Processes and Operational.

Key risks that the Directors believe to be the most 
important after assessment of the likelihood and 
potential impact on the business are highlighted below.  
Not all these risks are within the control of the Company 
and other factors besides those listed may affect the 
Company’s performance. Some risks may be unknown 
at the present and other risks, currently regarded as less 
material could become material in the future.

Risks:

� Tobacco regulation that inhibits growth 

strategy 

The enactment of, proposal for, or rumors of, regulation 
that is unbalanced and impractical, and significantly 
impairs the Company’s ability to communicate 
with consumers, differentiate our products in the 
marketplace and launch future products, poses a risk 
to the Company’s long-term sustainability. Particularly, 
this could lead to an adverse impact on the ability to 
compete within the legal tobacco industry and with 
increased illicit trade. 

Mitigation Activities: Proactive and robust stakeholder 
engagement and litigation strategy for balanced 
regulations. Ongoing monitoring of marketing plans to 
ensure compliance with internal self-regulations and 
local legislation. 

� Significant increase in tobacco excise 

The Company is exposed to unexpected and/or significant 
excise increases or changes to the structure thereof. 
Excise increases for the three consecutive years 2015 
to 2017 proved to be significant and excessive and have 
resulted in transfer of volumes from the legal industry 
to the illicit trade in cigarettes. This was particularly so 
in 2017 when a 21.4% increase in tobacco excise was 
implemented. Not only did the industry experience a 
reduction in sales volumes, but the Government lost 
well needed revenues compared to their intake in 2016. 
We note that the Government has prudently not levied 
any further increases since that time, and we encourage 
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that the industry be provided with an opportunity to 
stabilize and recover sales volumes. In addition, we 
further encourage the implementation of a sustainable 
excise strategy. 

Significant increases in tobacco excise affects the 
ability of consumers to pay for legitimate brands, thus 
increasing the attractiveness and demand for low 
priced cigarettes. This ultimately results in reducing 
legal industry volumes, as well as the erosion of the 
brand value of legitimate brands. Excessive increases 
over time will erode revenue and profit growth and result 
in the failure of the Company to meet the expectations 
of its shareholders.

Mitigation Activities: Strong stakeholder engagement 
towards ensuring a sustainable excise strategy by the 
Government, portfolio reviews to ensure appropriate 
balance and coverage across price segments, 
monitoring of economic indicators and Government 
revenues, and removing non-value-added costs from 
our business model to constantly improve efficiency in 
the business.

� Competition from illicit trade – either local 
taxes evaded, smuggled illicit cigarettes or 
counterfeits

With affordability being a major issue for the Jamaican 
cigarette consumer, resulting from the macro-economic 
environment, as well as increasing prices of legal 
cigarette brands because of frequent and excessive 
excise increases, Illicit cigarettes are becoming more 
attractive as they do not pay the requisite taxes, and 
as such, are sold at significantly lower prices than 
legitimate brands. In addition, most of these illicit 
cigarettes are sold at the lower segment of the market 
and in contravention of regulatory requirements.  This 
results in lower volumes and profits for legitimate 
players like Carreras. Furthermore, the investment in 
trade marketing and distribution is undermined. 
Mitigation Activities: Robust anti-illicit trade strategy, 
active engagement with key external stakeholders, 
cross-industry and multi-sector cooperation, proactive 
excise engagement with the Government, building brand 
equity for our low-price offer, strategic engagements, 
and price campaigns/consumer engagement activities. 

� Increase in crimes leading to increased 
volatility on routes plied

During the first quarter of 2022, the Jamaican economy 
has seen a 9.1% decline in the total number of serious and 

violent crimes in comparison to 1st quarter 2021. Though 
there has been a decline thus far, this risk is monitored 
for possible attacks on our staff members including 
loss of life, financial losses due to loss of assets, limited 
access to market and disruption of normal business 
processes and operations. Overall sustained crime and 
violence will threaten business sustainability. 

Mitigation Activities: Security risk assessments are 
conducted periodically. Sales vehicles are equipped with 
security features, and armed response units put in place 
in high-risk areas.

� Concentration of credit risk with large credit 
customers

The Company has a significant concentration of credit 
risk with large credit customers with material balances 
both individually and in aggregate. Credit risk is the 
risk of loss arising from a counterparty to a financial 
contract failing to discharge its obligations. 

Mitigation Activities: Continuous engagement with 
large customers, on-going assessment of recoverability 
of balances which may be impacted by changes in 
the economic and business environment, expansion 
of the distribution network, credit risk insurance, 
implementation of processes and programs to enable 
faster debt recovery/collections by working closely with 
large customers.

� Possible fallout in sales if current customer 
dynamic changes

With the current market dynamic, there is a risk that 
any change in the relationship structure between the 
Company and high-volume purchasing customers may 
result in a fallout in sales. 

Mitigation Activities: Engage with large customers to 
encourage succession planning, support succession 
planning of large customers, reduce reliance by building 
out the supply chain, expansion of the Route-to-Market 
structure and large customer response monitoring. 

� SKU Out of Stock

With the advent of the COVID-19 pandemic, the risk of 
supply-chain disruption has been a key concern. This 
would be due to the escalation in the global supply-chain 
disruptions which see delays in shipments of materials 
for use in the production process or shipments of 
inventory for sale.

Mitigation Activities: Proactive adherence to the 
stock policy, assess increases to our safety stocks, 
contingency sourcing plan in place, leverage on larger 
customers’ capacity to supply smaller customers and 
the final consumer as required.
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� Inability to commercialize and deliver non-
combustible products

Our commitment is to the offering and delivery of 
successful, safe, and consumer-appealing innovations. 
Inappropriate regulations applied to this category 
of products could potentially impact the long-term 
strategic objectives of the Company.

Mitigation Activities: Engagement for implementation 
of balanced regulations, stakeholder mapping and 
prioritization, developing robust and compelling 
advocacy materials, strategic media campaign, identify 
and prioritise key current and emerging regulatory issues, 
strengthen industry and third-party co-operation and 
support on industry wide issues, development of expert 
analyses on efficacy of various regulatory proposals.
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The Company maintains its systems of risk 
management and internal control to ensure the 
safeguarding of shareholders’ investments and 
the Company’s assets.  The system is designed 
to identify, evaluate, and manage risks that may 
impede the Company’s objectives. To support this 
system, the Internal Audit Unit is tasked with the 
responsibility for the prevention, detection, and 
correction of internal control failures. It cannot, 
and is not designed to, eliminate then entirely, but 
will however provide reasonable assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.  

The Audit Committee has direct oversight of the 
Internal Audit Unit and reviews reports of the unit 
at least on a quarterly basis. The Internal Audit Unit 
continuously monitors the environment in which the 
Company operates to:

- Identify emerging risk(s) 
- Devise and implement mitigation plans
- Assess the effectiveness of existing controls   

In monitoring the effectiveness of the control 
mechanisms of the Company, the Internal Audit Unit 
addresses each risk factor on two (2) main levels, 
the Above Market approach or The Operational and 
Compliance approach.  

Above Market Approach
The Above Market approach encompasses 
procedures aimed at achieving the overall strategic 
objectives of the Group. This highlights the process 
of developing and cascading operating procedures 
and the measurement of these procedures through 
means such as KPI’s and auditing techniques. The 
auditing tools used under this approach are the 
General Management Accountability (GMA) Audits 
and Control Navigator (CN). 

GMA Audit Review 
The Internal Audit Unit employs a direct review 
strategy of each business unit through a GMA Audit 
review, where each business unit is thoroughly 
reviewed for control deficiencies or areas for 
improvement. This exercise is conducted to ensure 
that the Group’s current ways of doing business is 
robust enough to safeguard its assets in a changing 
business environment. The last GMA Audit was 
conducted in 2019, however, these audits are carried 
out on a random basis. Some of the control processes 
that fall within the scope of the GMA review includes:

- Order to Cash

- Understand Trade Landscape

- Manage Security

- Tackle Illicit Trade 

- Manage Regulatory Agenda

- Record to Report

- Procure to Pay

- Supply Chain

Control Navigator 
On an annual basis, the Internal Audit Unit 
executes a comprehensive assessment in each 
business unit, through an auditing tool titled Control 
Navigator (CN), of the key controls each unit is 
expected to have in place.  This is a self-assessment 
tool that enables each unit to assess their internal 
control environment, assist in identifying any controls 
that may need strengthening and provide support in 
implementing and monitoring action plans to address 

Internal Audit Overview
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control weaknesses. The Internal Audit Unit reviews 
the documented evidence to determine the accuracy 
of the self-assessment. Examples of the processes 
that fall within the scope of Control Navigator (CN) 
include:

-  Manage Legal 

- Master Data Management

- Manage Human Resources 

- Environmental Health and Safety

- Market to Cash

- Order to Cash

- Procure to Pay

Operational and Compliance Approach

The Operational and Compliance approach to risk 
management is geared towards the mitigation 
of business risks that exist within the Company’s 
revenue stream and to ensure compliance with both 
internal and external requirements. This approach 
to risk management results in audit plans being 
developed with a more commercial perspective and 
executed by the Internal Audit Unit. 
Our sales force forms part of the Company’s 
overall commercial risk management perspective 
and therefore, the Internal Audit Unit designs and 
executes procedures to ensure compliance by the 

respective personnel. These procedures are analytical 
in nature and include:

- Review the End of Day paperwork to ensure 

compliance with all sales force policies and 
procedures

- Review daily transaction for inconsistencies 

- Obtain explanation for excessive voids on 
transactions

- Review transactions that were processed 
manually   

Another method used to ensure compliance with 
policies and procedures by the sales force is the 
Credit Audit Review conducted by the Internal Audit 
Unit. This process utilises ad hoc, independent visits 
to credit customers to establish the appropriateness 
of financial and non-information captured within our 
records.

Trade or promotional activity also falls within the 
purview of the Internal Audit Unit and as such, these 
activities are also scrutinized to ensure compliance 
with set guidelines. These activities are reviewed 
against the terms of reference of the promotional 
activity to ensure that the overall objectives are met.  

The Internal Audit Unit adopts several other auditing 
techniques to ensure compliance with established 
controls. Some of these techniques are outlined 
below:

Control Procedures Frequency

Stock Counts This involves counting physical stock on a scheduled and unscheduled 
basis to ensure the proper management of inventory. 

Monthly 

Key Controls Checklist 1. The review of all supporting documents surrounding any 
inventory movement from the bonded warehouse to ensure 
compliance with customs regulations. 

2. An assessment of the Order to Cash processes to ensure 
compliance with the company’s policies and procedures.

Monthly

Authorized Economic 
Operator (AOE) 
Requirements 

The monitoring of all controls covered under the AEO program to 
ensure compliance and recertification. 

Monthly 

Ad Hoc Investigation Provides support to business units that requires clarification on a 
possible compliance issue. 

As needed
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Ten -Year Financial Review

*Each ordinary share was sub-divided into 10 ordinary shares (10:1) at close of business on September 20, 201743 | Carreras Annual Report
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POSITION: Effective February 1, 2020, Raoul Glynn 
was appointed Managing Director of Carreras Limited. 
Raoul has over 18 years of experience with the British 
American Tobacco Group. This is his second stint 
at Carreras, having served as Trade Marketing and 
Distribution Manager from 2009–2012.

Immediately preceding this appointment, Raoul held 
the position of Country Manager at Carisma Marketing 
Services, responsible for the general management of 
21 markets of the English, French and Dutch speaking 
Caribbean, the largest volume base in the area.

Raoul distinguished himself through his performance 
in various roles, beginning with that of Trade Marketing 
Executive at West Indian Tobacco Company in Trinidad in 
2002;  Area Manager, Carisma Marketing Services Unit 
in January 2004; and Trade Marketing and Distribution 
Manager at Demerara Tobacco (DTC) Guyana, 
another BAT subsidiary in April 2006. With this level of 
success, Raoul was seconded to Carreras in Jamaica 
where he led a team which achieved positive volume 
performance in a market which had been experiencing 
decline. His ascension with BAT continued in February 
2012 with the role of Marketing Operations Manager of 
British American Tobacco Pars in the Islamic Republic 
of Iran and then, in February 2014, following a short 
stint in the Middle East Area, Dubai, Raoul assumed the 
role of Business Development Manager in Costa Rica, 
with responsibility for the Trade Marketing, Distribution 
and Activation portfolio for Central America and the 
Caribbean, leading a strong efficiencies agenda in the 
region.

Raoul, who has been a member of the Board of Directors 
of Demerara Tobacco Company since February 2017, 
holds a Bachelor’s Degree from the University of the 
West Indies, St. Augustine Campus and is an avid 
sports fan. A strong and results-oriented manager, he 
is a welcomed addition to Carreras and his positive 
contributions are greatly anticipated. 

QUALIFICATIONS: B.A., University of the West Indies, 
St Augustine Campus

COMMITTEES: Director, Demerara Tobacco Company, 
Guyana; Participant - Audit Committee, NOMS 
Committee, Corporate Governance Committee, 
Carreras Ltd; Member, Carreras Ltd Superannuation 
Fund

Leadership Team

Raoul Glynn, 
Managing Director
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SKILLS & EXPERIENCE: In January 2021, Andre 
Pryce was appointed Head of Trade for Carreras 
Limited, Jamaica. His experience in marketing 
spans over eighteen years, 15 of which were in 
significant roles within the BAT Group, such 
as Key Accounts Manager, Route to Market 
Manager, Customer Development Manager, 
Business Development Manager and Territory 
Manager covering 31 different end markets 
within Caribbean, Central America and South 
America. Commencing his BAT journey as Trade 
Representative in 2007 he consistently moved up 
the ranks and has always distinguished himself 
with exemplary performance in both local and 
regional roles. 

Andre has a knack for delivering business results, 
leading change, and developing talent. In March 
2017 he was seconded to BAT Caribbean and 
Central American (BATCCA) Area Office, in Costa 
Rica. There he served as Customer Development 
Manager with responsibilities for 30 BATCCA 
markets. In 2018 he moved to Bogota, Colombia 
as Business Development Manager where he 
functioned as a key player in the transition of 
BAT’s Area Office Headquarters. In July 2019, he 
was promoted to Territory Manager for Carisma 
Marketing Services, with general management 
responsibilities for 19 end markets in English, 
French and Dutch speaking Caribbean Islands. 
Since his return to Jamaica, he has successfully 
led the team to achieving their highest sales 
target within the last 5 years among other stellar 
achievements and records.

COMMITTEE: Director, Demerara Tobacco 
Company, Guyana; Participant- Audit Committee. 
He also served as Board Chairman for Pesticides 
Control Authority in Jamaica.
QUALIFICATIONS: M.B.A.; Marketing 
(Distinction), B.A. Literatures in English, both 
from the University of the West Indies, Mona.   

Andre St. Clare Pryce
Head of Trade
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SKILLS & EXPERIENCES: Cammeca L. Cookhorn, 
Attorney-at-Law, was appointed as Legal and 
External Affairs Manager for Carreras Limited in 
March of 2021. Prior to joining the organization, she 
served as Senior Legal Officer, Legal Consultant and 
Legal and Investigating Officer in various areas of 
the Public Service, where she focused on Corporate 
and Commercial Law, Regulations, Compliance 
and Investigations. In addition to her tenure in the 
public service, she has experience in general legal 
practice, Communications and Marketing. Her 
Marketing and Communications experience was 
garnered from her years as a Marketing Executive 
for a Shipping Line, the Financial Sector, in addition 
to other entities.

QUALIFICATIONS: Bachelor of Arts in Media and 
Communications and Political Science, University 
of the West Indies, Mona, Bachelor of Laws (LLB), 
University of London, Legal Education Certificate, 
Norman Manley Law School, Master of Laws (LLM) 
in Commercial and Corporate Law, University of 
London

Cammeca L. Cookhorn 
Legal And External Affairs Manager

49 | Carreras Annual Report



Dwaine Williams
Marketing Deployment Manager

SKILLS & EXPERIENCES: Dwaine Williams was 
appointed as Marketing Deployment Manager, 
Carreras Limited in June 2020. Dwaine’s experience 
in the FMCG industry spans over twenty (20) years. 
He held the roles of National Sales Manager at J. 
Wray and Nephew Ltd and Head of Commercial 
at Red Stripe in Jamaica. He was also the General 
Manager at Caribbean Cellars (Topa Equities 
Ltd.) in the Virgin Islands. He has also served as 
the Divisional Manager at Bryden Stokes Ltd. in 
Barbados, for the beverage and food divisions and 
most recently, Dwaine was the General Manager 
at LASCO Distributors in Jamaica. Dwaine has 
had a consistent and solid record of success as a 
commercial and transformational business leader. 

QUALIFICATIONS: M.B.A (Management), BSc. 
in Business Administration (Marketing- 1st class 
Hons.)- University of Technology, Jamaica 
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SKILLS & EXPERIENCES: Rogelio Parades was 
appointed Finance Manager for Carreras Limited 
in April 2020. Rogelio joined the BAT group in 
2008 as Finance Planning Analyst for Mexico. 
After a successful experience in his role, he took 
an international assignment in BAT Columbia as 
Planning Manager in 2013 where he delivered 
strong results in areas such as Operating Profit 
and Operating Cashflow among others. In 2014 he 
returned to Mexico to lead the Route to Consumer 
Process for one of the biggest Business Projects 
in the group, Project TaO. He then moved on to 
the role of Variable Cost Manager in 2015 where 
he was responsible for the cost strategy in the 
Canadian cigarette production area. In 2018, this 
led to another international assignment as Finance 
Manager for Nicaragua where he led the Finance 
Function in the country and was part of the local 
Top Team.

QUALIFICATIONS: BSc. Economics, MBA from 
IPADE Business School. 

Rogelio Parades
Head of Finance
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SKILLS & EXPERIENCES: Kisha-Ann Brown 
joined Carreras Limited in the position of Human 
Resource Business Partner in January 2021 with 
a seasoned Human Resources background and 
solid skill repertory. She most recently served as 
HR Business Partner for Campari, and previously 
worked with Diageo and Heineken where she 
held multiple successive roles, both in Operations 
and then later in HR. Kisha-Ann is an experienced 
business leader with over 15 years' experience in 
Talent Management, Training and Development, 
and Project and Change Management. She has 
honed these skills through challenging roles across 
several disciplines, leading multiple complex 
projects in multinational business environments 
and completing international assignments in 
countries such as Kenya, Nigeria and Uganda.

QUALIFICATIONS: BSc (Hons) Pure and Applied 
Chemistry, UWI Mona.

Kisha-Ann Brown
HR Business Partner
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August 2022 will mark the 60th anniversary of Carreras 
Limited and I am extremely proud that I have contributed 
to this incredible milestone. What Carreras has 
been able to achieve over the past sixty years is quite 
noteworthy as we have taken the product offerings to 
every nook and cranny of Jamaica and have created a 
highly successful profit generating company. The team 
was able to redefine our business strategy over the 
years with passion and determination and the outcome 
has been tremendous.

Two years ago, the management team outlined a very 
clear vision for the company. Carreras needed to be the 
best at everything we do. It was pinned on three main 
pillars: 1) Revolutionized Portfolio matching the needs of 
consumers today and in the near future; 2) Best in Class 
Distribution which ensures our consumers can access 
our products throughout Jamaica; and 3) underpinned 
by a Dedicated and Committed Army of Professionals 
who defy the odds to deliver shareholder value.

We are truly blessed to have had the many men and 
women who have served as Directors over the years, 
bringing their varied areas of expertise and shaping and 
leading the company. Their guidance has propelled us to 
becoming the best performing company and navigating 
us through challenging times. When you look at the 
current Board, you will see capable leaders who have 
taken the competent baton from their predecessors 
and are now poised to take the business to new historic 
heights.

With our newly adopted mantra of “A Better Tomorrow”, 
we strive to maintain our outstanding performance in the 
coming years with our dedicated team members, loyal 
customers, business partners and our shareholders.

Strong Financial Performance
We achieved a record high $15.8 billion in Revenue, a 
13% increase when compared to same period last year, 
mainly driven by volume increase and improved portfolio 
mix. Profits after tax increased from $3.7 billion to $4.1 
billion which resulted in a 9% increase in our Earnings 
per Share from 77.0¢ to 83.9¢. Our share price closed at 
3% above the prior year and dividends paid amounted 
to $4.1 billion which is 21% higher than prior year. The 
Company reported a solid capital base that showed 
a 3% growth in market capitalization of $43.4 billion 
compared to the same period last year.

Our continued strong financial performance is a true 
testament to the loyalty of our consumers, business 
partners and the Company’s continued commitment to 
provide a superior world-class portfolio.

Marketing
For six decades, the Company has built reliable brands 
that our consumers enjoy and trust. We continue to 
push our journey of transformation for 2022 and beyond 
with our brands which not only includes a pack facelift 
of Craven A but an upgrade from a regular sized stick to 
Craven A super king size. This is the first of its kind locally 
which gives the consumer the same great taste with 
25% more tobacco, and an additional two puffs without 
an increase in price. 

Matterhorn also drove the innovation agenda leading 
the way in the freshness and stimulation category. This 
brand offers consumers capsules of freshness which 
empowers today’s consumers to satisfy their needs in 
whichever way they choose. Today, Matterhorn Double 
Capsule is one of the fastest growing offers in the 
market.

We found effective, creative and safer ways to engage 
and bring satisfaction to our consumers during this 
unprecedented time. This was highly valued by our loyal 
trade and consumer partners who appreciated the 
commercial input during this period. For the first time, 
the Company launched a digital platform which allows 
us to responsibly engage with our consumers in a safe 
space created for our adult smokers.

Illicit Trade
The illicit trade continues to be the greatest threat to 
government revenue, and the supply continues to flood 
the market. These illicit brands are priced drastically 
below the minimum possible legal prices once all taxes 
are paid, and they continue to boldly display their packs 
and their offers in the trade. Undaunted, the company 
continues to employ other strategic initiatives to counter 
the effect from these activities. It is always important 
to highlight the work of the Ministry of Finance and the 
Ministry of National Security, for both recognizing the 
threat to the economy and funding criminality of the 
trade in smuggled cigarettes; and for the work in their 
fiscal policy, policing and border control, to make illegal 
importation and offering to consumers as difficult as 

Managing Director’s Overview
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possible. Great work has been done, but it is a constant effort, as 
the cost to the national coffers is great.
 
The Minister of Health tabled for consideration in Parliament, 
the Tobacco Control Act (Bill) in 2020. The company is working 
assiduously to ensure that the regulations are balanced, practical, 
and fair. We are also committed to supporting and complying 
with such regulations set out for governing the marketing and 
distribution of our products. We are grateful to the Minister for 
allowing the position of all stakeholders to be considered and we 
strongly believe that an effective and enforceable regulation will 
be the outcome, which does not illegitimize the legal industry in 
favour of the illicit players.

People
Our greatest and most important resource is our employees. 
Our main priority is the protection of our people’s health and 
employment. All safety measures are being enforced, and 
protocols adhered to during the pandemic. We are now above an 
80% vaccination rate within our personnel, for which we are very 
grateful, and Carreras strives to close the gap through education 
and engagement with the teams. As we enter this new phase of 
investment in Jamaica, we continue to grow our teams and ensure 
enhanced benefits, and to reward and continue to attract the 
best talent in the market. As we seek to expand our distribution, 
Carreras is actively providing great opportunities as we seek to be 
more diverse with our talents and sustain a winning performance 
within our team to meet the needs of this transformational 
business.

Outlook
The Company has always believed in Jamaica, and as the results 
show, the strategy is delivering. We are optimistic about being 
able to take the business to new heights. Carreras is confident in 
the current portfolio and the suite of new ranges in the nicotine 
space which meet the needs of today’s consumer and beyond. 
We are excited and looking forward to continued growth through 
our Ethos of being BOLD, FAST, EMPOWERED, DIVERSE and 
RESPONSIBLE.

Thank you to our consumers, board of directors, dedicated 
team members, business partners and shareholders for their 
commitment and unwavering support, as you contributed 
significantly our success which propels us to “A Better Tomorrow”.

Raoul Glynn

Managing Director

THROUGH THE YEARS
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Management’s Discussion & 
Analysis

Financial Performance
Overview
Carreras Limited delivered Operating Revenues of 
$15.75 billion (2021: $13.97 billion) for the financial 
year ended March 31, 2022, which resulted in Profit 
after Tax of $4.07 billion (2021: $3.74 billion).  Results 
show an overall improved performance for the 
Company as Operating Revenues and Profit after 
Tax grew by 13% and 9%, respectively, compared to 
the prior financial year.  The Operating Revenues and 
Profit after Tax results were driven by an incremental 
growth in volumes as our brands continue to hold a 
strong and resilient position as the industry leaders 
so poised to satisfy the consumption moments of 
adult smokers.

During the year, we continued our focused 
investment in our Route-to-Market structure 
and the support of our brand in an effort to drive 
improvements in Operating Revenue.  This focus, 
coupled with the impact of rising operational 
costs, resulted in an increase in Administrative, 
Distribution and Marketing Expenses for the year. 
Expenses totaling $2.33 billion (2021: $2.07 billion) 
increased by 13% compared to previous financial 
year. We remain committed to the implementation 
of effective cost containment measures to drive 
efficiencies, despite the ongoing and increasing 
macro-economic pressures.  

As the Company strives to deliver continued value 
to shareholders, dividend distribution per stock unit 
for the year was $0.85 (2021: $0.70) which represents 
a 21% increase over the prior year. This distribution 
means that a total of $4.12billion (2021: $3.39 billion) 
was paid to stockholders on record during the year. 
Dividend yield for the financial year was 9.5% (2021: 
8.1%) and earnings per share was $0.84 (2021: $0.77).  
At March 31, 2022, the Company’s share price was 
$8.94 (2021: $8.68) per share, a 3% appreciation 
when compared to prior financial year.

Total assets grew by $156 million or 3% compared 
to last financial year as we saw increases in the 
Property, plant and equipment and stocks of 
inventory held by the Company.  Total Liabilities also 

reflected increases over prior year of $170 million or 
6% as the Company’s current liabilities increased.  
Total equity remains comparable to prior financial 
year.

In a nutshell, the 2021/22 financial year was just as 
challenging as the previous years, however, Carreras 
Limited with its solid 60-year history of resilience 
and drive for continuous improvements, realized 
revenue growth of 13% and delivered year-on-year 
profit growth of 9%. We continue to maintain our 
stance as a high performing Company on the path to 
delivering “A Better Tomorrow” for our consumers, 
shareholders, and stakeholders. 

Below are some key performance highlights for the 
year:

Performance Highlights

Profit after Tax (J$ Millions)
5 Year CAGR of 3.97%

Profit After Tax amounted to $4.07 billion (2021: 
$3.74 billion) resulting in a 9% growth compared to 
prior financial year. The five-year Compound Annual 
Growth Rate (CAGR) was 3.97% which, when 
compared to the previous 5-year CAGR of -0.45% 
(2020/21 to 2016/17) highlights the continued 
recovery and growth of the Company post excise 
shock in 2017.
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This 9% growth in Profit After Tax is directly attributable to the increase in the volume base and resultant 
improved Operating Revenue.  To support this improved Operating Revenue position, the Company realized 
increases in Cost of Operating Revenues and total expenses of 14% and 13%, respectively.

Share Price
5 Year CAGR of -4.19%

The Company’s share price closed at $8.94 as of March 31, 2022 (2021: $8.68), showing the continued 
resilience of the Company with the 3% growth in value compared to the end of the prior financial year. 
At the end of the financial year, Carreras Limited market capitalization was $43.40 billion an increase of 
3% compared to prior financial year amount of $42.17 billion.  The number of outstanding shares remains 
unchanged at the end of the year. Our Price Earnings Ratio closed the year at 10.7 times.  

Dividend Paid (J�)

Dividend Per Share 
(Note: As a result of the 10:1 stock spilt which was effective September 20, 2017, dividend per share for 
previous years have been restated for comparison purposes).
For the financial year 2021/22 Carreras Limited distributed $4.13 billion (2021: $3.39 billion) in dividends paid 
to shareholders. This represented a distribution of $0.85 per share (2021: $0.70); a 21% increase versus prior 
financial year. 

On May 30, 2022, the Board of Directors declared an additional interim dividend payment of $0.23 per share 
which represents $1.12 billion in dividends to be distributed. However, it should be noted that since the 
declaration was done subsequent to the financial year ended March 31, 2022, this was not recognized as a 
liability in the financial statements and there are no tax consequences. 
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Carreras Limited delivered $15.76 billion in Operating 
Revenue for the financial year ending March 31, 2022, 
representing an increase of $1.78 million or 13% versus the 
prior financial year. 

Despite the challenges brought on from the COVID-19 
pandemic and the constant threats from the illicit trade, 
the Company’s efforts were largely successful and 
deriving growth from the market. Our sales and marketing 
team managed to drive brand offerings and expanded 
consumers’ need and taste profiles throughout the period, 
employing new and innovative ways to engage with 
consumers despite constraints of Covid-19 and resultant 
Government’s restrictions. The 5-year CAGR of 5.85% 
points to organic growth as there were no increase in prices 
in the five-year period following the excise increase in 2017. 

The Company further maintained its distribution network 
with its key wholesaler partners which ensured trade 
presence and getting our brands into new areas as we seek 
to expand our market footprint. 

Profit and Loss Analysis 
Operating Revenue (J$ Millions)
5 Year CAGR of 5.85%

Cost of Operating Revenue (J$ Millions)
5 Year CAGR of 6.96%

The cost of operating revenue consists of three main 
components, namely Special Consumption Tax (STC), 
Customs Administrative Fee (CAF) and Production/
Manufacturing Costs. The cost of Operating Revenue for 
the financial period was $8.18 billion which is a $1.02 billion 
or 14% increase compared to the prior financial year. 

The increase in the Cost of Operating Revenues is, as 
expected, driven by the increase in sale volumes, which 
drove the improvement in the Operating Revenues, 
compared to the prior financial year.  During the year, we also 
saw a marginal increase in the production/manufacturing 
cost line for products shipped from the factory in Trinidad 
and Tobago, where we see the impact of the global supply 
chain disruptions triggered by the COVID-19 pandemic 
being reflected in these costs.   

Operating Expenses (J$ Millions)
5 Year CAGR of 5.42% The Company’s operating expenses are comprised of 

Administrative, Marketing and Distribution costs and 
amounts to $2.33 billion (2021: $2.07 billion) for the financial 
year.  This is a 13% increase when compared to the prior 
financial year and represents a 5-year Compound Annual 
Growth Rate of 5.42%.

This level of increase in Operating Expenses was largely 
because, during the prior financial year, spend was curtailed 
as the Company and the country went through the effects 
of the COVID-19 pandemic, which saw several planned 
activities delayed/cancelled. As restrictions were lifted and 

Administrative Expenses Distribution Expenses
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CARRERAS Group Limited notice to 
shareholders.

some level of normalcy returned, our team revisited plans and 
executed some of these activities to drive increased volumes, 
the results of which are seen in the uplift in the Operating 
Revenues reported for the financial year.  Our Route to Market 
capabilities were also strengthened to deliver these volumes.
The Company’s Management Team remains committed to the 
reduction of expense, utilizing cost containment measures, 
leading to efficiencies.  

Other Operating Income 
Interest income, foreign exchange gains, and gain/loss on 
disposal of fixed asset are the main contributors to Other 
Operating Income. Other Operating Income decreased by $36 
million versus the prior financial year. Interest income was 
impacted by reduced interest rates offered in the financial 
markets as well as the holding of lower funds on investments 
during the year. Prior year benefited from the larger write 
back of unclaimed dividends than what was realized for this 
current financial year.

Income Tax 
Income tax for the period totaled $1.35 billion which is a 11% 
increase over the prior financial year, and is aligned with the 
percentage increase seen in Operating Revenue. The effective 
tax rate for the financial period is 24.97% which is a marginal 
increase to the prior year percentage of 24.63%. 

“Carreras Limited 
delivered $15.76 
billion in Operating 
Revenue for the 
financial year 
ending March 31, 
2022, representing 
an increase of 
$1.78 million or 13% 
versus the prior 
financial year.”

THROUGH THE YEARS

Carreras Annual Report  | 58



Financial Position Review
Carreras Limited’s Financial Position has maintained 
its solid position and reflects robust working capital 
health.  Key Financial Ratios illustrate this strong 
position:

Accounts receivable days have improved to 34 days 
(2021: 41 days), revealing the strength of the Company 
credit management policies and procedures. These 
policies ensure that the Company deliver Operating 
Revenue while limiting our credit risk.

Slight reduction in current ratio, however strong 
closing position indicating the Company’s ability to 
adequately honor it’s short-term obligations.

The Company’s total assets on March 31, 2022 
was $5.23 billion (2021: $5.07 billion). The increase 
compared to the prior financial period was due 
to increases in property, plant, and equipment, 
non-current assets as well as higher accounts 
receivables and items of inventory.  

Working capital at the end of the financial year 
was $1.70 billion which is a marginal decrease to 
comparative period amount of $1.79 billion.  During 
the year, the Company made higher payments to 
shareholders which impacted the closing cash 
balance at the end of the current year. The increase 
in the inventories was triggered by the ongoing 
challenges in the global supply chain, where stock 
holdings were adjusted to ensure sufficient stock 
on hand to service the market.  Income payable 
increased to reflect corporation due on increase 
profits reported.

Credit Risk 

Credit Risk is the risk of a loss arising from a 
counterparty to a financial contract to discharge its 
obligations and arises principally from the Group’s 
receivables from customers, cash, and investment 
securities. As of March 31, 2022, the Group’s credit 
risk resulted in trade receivables and cash and 
investments totaling $2.85 billion (2021: $3.37 
billion) which is a decrease of 15% when compared 
to comparative period. 

With effect from October 1, 2018, the Company has 
been party to a Credit Risk Insurance Policy, under 
a Financial Interest Clause, through its ultimate 
parent, British American Tobacco PLC. Management 
ensures that the credit and investment policies that 
are in place adequately addresses the counterparty 
risks and as in previous years, these are continually 
and rigorously monitored by both Management and 
the Board of Directors. 

-17%

Administrative Expenses Distribution Expenses
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TOTAL LIABILITIES (J$ MILLIONS)

Total liability as of March 31, 2022, was $3.14 billion (2021: $2.97 
billion) which is 5% or $0.15 billion increase compared to the 
prior financial year.  The main driver is the higher tax liability 
payable on the increased profits earned by the Company. 

Shareholders’ Equity 
Total equity amounted to $2.09 billion, which is a decrease of 
$0.01 billion over the prior financial year’s $2.10 billion. Profit 
for the year of $4.1 billion and distributions to shareholders 
totaling $4.1 billion were the main components which 
accounted for the change. 

Carreras Limited distributed $4.1 billion (2021: $3.39 billion) 
to shareholders for the 2021/22 financial year representing 
a dividend of 85 cents per stock unit (2021: 70 cents), an 
increase of 21% over prior year.  

THROUGH THE YEARS
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Trade Environment 
2021 was a year that exemplified our gratitude, 
aptitude, and  attitude.  Just when we thought 2020 
had posed one of the greatest tests of our resilience, 
tenacity, and adaptability, then came 2021 with an 
unparalleled level of volatility in the marketplace. The 
year was ladened with uncertainties that heavily 
impacted us as a supplier, our customers, and our 
consumers. These included the exponential rise in 
Covid-19 cases, closure of the entertainment sector, 
battering from tropical storms causing multiple days 
of devastating rains, from partial lockdown to total 
no movement days, among other economic and 
social challenges. We remain extremely grateful for 
the support and partnership with our customers 
that made us able to continue delivering satisfaction 
to our deserving consumers. We are equally thankful 
and humbled by the way our field force and support 
staff demonstrated collective strength so we could 
deliver the value promised to our shareholders.

Trade Marketing And Distribution

We leveraged prior year learnings from the COVID-19 
pandemic to pivot and foster responsible growth. 
The Trade Marketing and Distribution Team acted 
strategically and with intention to innovatively meet the 
needs of our customers in this new environment. We 
utilized the full force of our distribution machinery to 
ensure that our customers were not left with the option 
of only illicit products. With this outlook we continue 
to be the category leader within a category that is 
bedeviled by illicitly traded cigarettes.

Illicit Threat
The presence of illicit cigarettes in the market continues 
to be the greatest threat to the safety and sustainability 
of our industry.  Illicit products impact safe and 
regulated consumption while eroding tax revenues and 
possibly reducing legitimate avenues of employment. In 
a bid to tackle this menace we continue to ensure that 
we expand our distribution reach to give consumers 
the best chance of accessing legitimate products. We 
continue to count on the authorities and other relevant 
stakeholders’ support to put measures in place to 
mitigate against the risks and impact of the illicit trade. 

Sales representative engaging with a valued retailer

Trade Marketing Representative stocking a dispenser
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Volume Performance
Notwithstanding the effects of the pandemic and the other 
external factors our Trade Marketing & Distribution Team showed 
their prowess by delivering a 12% growth in volumes year over 
year. This represented 4 consecutive quarters of growth and is a 
testament to the grit and resilience of our team. In tandem with 
our optimized route to market strategy, focused on safety, scale 
and sustainability, the wining mindset of the staff not only helped 
us to get closer to the consumer, but to make 2021 a record year. 

Route to Market Improvements 
We continue to optimize our route to market strategy to 
accelerate volume growth and expand our reach  while preserving 
the safety of our staff and ensuring business sustainability. We 
are conscious that our success cannot be guaranteed by us doing 
it alone, and we depend heavily on the advocacy, partnership 
and relationship with the trade. This ingrained mindset of ours 
continues to yield tangible results and mutual benefits, as 
evidenced by our latest trade partnership venture, Project MIDAS. 
We used data and analytics to devise increasingly efficient 
distribution methods to reach sections of the marketplace which 
we were previously unable to access sustainably. This helped to 
promote volume growth, increase point of sales count and more 
importantly provide consumers, particularly in inner-city spaces 
reliable, consistent access to our high-quality products. 

Trade Marketing Representative upgrading our communication including 

Youth Access Prevention (YAP)

THROUGH THE YEARS
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In 2021 we have seen a 17% growth in retail channel (year 
over year) and 500+ new points of sale being added. 
These continued improvements have allowed Carreras to 
be agile and adaptable when faced with adverse market 
conditions. We continue to leverage our distribution 
machinery by adding products through our partnership 
initiative.

Partnership
Effective February 2021, Carreras Limited started 
distributing Gillette Shavers, Minora Razers and Shavers. 
The transition to offering multi-category has thus far 
been seamless both from the sales force and trade 
perspectives. We have been able to increase coverage of 
these brands and continue to see great potential in eking 
great benefits for the future.   

Our mission is to drive a superior, relevant and streamlined 
product portfolio built on technical expertise, consumer 
understanding and environmental awareness. We 
remain steadfast to our ethos of being BOLD, FAST, 
EMPOWERED, DIVERSE and RESPONSIBLE whilst 
we deliver value to our shareholders, customers and 
consumers.

Sales Representatives off-loading stocks

Sales Representatives ready for the day’s work
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Legacy campaigns for sponsorship 
of sporting events and racing

Sales Representative showcasing our partnership products

THROUGH THE YEARS
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Our marketing teams went above and beyond during the 
year, delivering spectacular programs for both our trade 
partners and loyal consumers. These efforts delivered 
on propelling our brands to not just maintain their 
leadership position in the market, but to drive exceptional 
growth in a most turbulent period. As we continue on 
our mission to deliver world class leading offerings to the 
market, consumers are continuing to demand more and 
as a consumer driven business we are always listening 
and innovating to expand our portfolio and renovate our 
market leading brands to remain relevant in a competitive 
market space. As we continue to optimize and sweat our 
route to market assets, taking our brands everywhere 
consumers are, we will remain resilient to the shocks of 
an ever changing market space and continue to beat the 
competition.

Brand Marketing

Craven “A”
Our beloved Craven “A” pack was given a modern face lift last year which was well received by our consumers. 
Consumers asked for more value this year and we overdelivered on their request by offering Craven “A” exclusively 
in a Super King Sized format cigarette that delivers 25% more tobacco, with the taste consumers love at the same 
price! This format was launched in March 2022 and as the only brand delivering this format to consumers, we 
anticipate the value offering will propel Craven “A” to higher heights of performance in the market. We have also 
invested ahead in supporting Craven “A” with a variety of events, promotional items, trade and other dispensing 
furniture to support our retail partners.

The focused strategic investment in our iconic brand yielded an impressive 12% growth over the prior year. As we 
get back to some sense of normalcy, we expect to see the brand deliver even stronger growth, delivering value for 
consumers, retailers and shareholders alike.

Brand Ambassador displaying Craven “A” Super King Size

Craven “A” Super King Size activation.
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Matterhorn
Having brought the freshness and sensations elements to 
the Jamaican market, Matterhorn via its capsule technology 
has revolutionized the mentholated segment of the cigarette 
market. Redefining freshness and giving the power to choose to 
the consumer, all in the same cigarette. Allowing consumers to 
experience a variety of flavours and sensations throughout their 
smoking experience with their favourite brand, our Matterhorn 
Double Click variant has two flavour capsules, one more than our 
Core variant. This, our most innovative product saw a gigantic 
20% growth in volumes vs last year, evidencing that the Jamaican 
consumer is in fact ready for the first world innovations available 
in the category. We pride ourselves on ensuring that we are the 
first to respond to the demands of our consumers for modern, 
exciting and satisfying products, and we will continue to invest in 
doing so. The Matterhorn brand family grew by 14% over the year 
and is poised to dwarf that number in the coming year.

Craven “A” Super King Size Launch

THROUGH THE YEARS
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Consumers and trade partners are continuously 
excited by the creative programs and concepts 
we deploy to bring the brand family to life in 
the most engaging ways. This is what they can 
continue to expect from Matterhorn.

Pall Mall
The Pall Mall offer continues to fulfill its strategic 
role, providing a quality offer to Jamaica’s 
discerning consumers seeking a quality smoke 
at the most affordable price. Pall Mall is this offer 
within the legal space and continues to resonate 
with consumers of full flavour and menthol 
products alike. Widely and consistently available, 
it penetrates those spaces previously dominated 
by illicit offers and gives consumers a legal 
quality option to satisfy their tobacco needs. This 
strength of distribution and quality of offer, at a 
very affordable price, makes Pall Mall the value 
leader in the market.

Merchandising /Visibility
As we continue to expand our distribution for our 
portfolio, so too have we expanded our functional 
and communication materials drive. We have 
selected the best fit for function materials and 
concepts to bring innovative and high-quality 
tools to our retailers. We have also ensured that Trade Marketing Representative engaging with a valued retailer

Our Matterhorn Ambassadors ready to CLICK at one of our activations
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Legacy promotion for Craven “A” 
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more outlets have the benefit and support of our functional 
dispensers, and a wide assortment of other communication 
and sales support materials to drive dispensing efficiency and 
continued awareness and engagement for our products. An 
additional 1,500 retailers across the island have benefited from our 
forward investment in this regard and we are intent on growing 
that number significantly over the next year as we deepen our 
reach to cover more customers and create visible and functional 
destinations for our ever-growing brands to better serve our loyal 
consumers and trade partners.

Trade/Consumer Activations
Despite the continued disruption caused by the COVID restrictions, 
limiting our ability to execute as per usual in entertainment spaces 
at scale, we decided to pivot and find new ways to drive brand 
lifestyle engagement with our consumers. Being the agile and 
dynamic business we have proven to be in these uncertain times, 
we leveraged the learnings from our global sister companies and 
applied the best practices to continuously drive tailored activations 
across all channels. We invested in additional resources to widen 
our tool kit and allow for us to increase our scale of activations, 
covering over 2,000 outlets nationally. We also launched our digital 
platform and were able to capture 600 adult users to responsibly 
engage with our brands in the digital space, modernizing how 
consumers engage with our brands from their smart devices. We 
continue to educate, entertain and reward our consumers and 
trade partners through our varied activities as well as take the 
opportunity to capture their feedback to continuously evaluate 
and ensure that we are providing the products and services they 
demand.

We have increased our fleet of music buses, gaming assets and 
reward items to increase the scale and frequency of our activations. 
Bringing our brands to life in the spaces our consumers socialize 
remains at the core of how we interact and connect our brand 
ethos in a way that truly matters to our target adult consumers.

Our committed and energized team of marketeers are committed 
to the continued development of our business and our brands. 
Through unbreakable and consultative relationships with our 
customers and consumer base we will continue to deliver value 
for a win-win outcome for Carreras, our brands, consumers and 
trade partners for years to come.

THROUGH THE YEARS
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The Regulatory Environment (Tobacco 
Control Act) Regulations

In 2020, the Minister of Health tabled for Parliament’s 
consideration, the Tobacco Control Act (Bill) 2020. The 
referenced Bill, which purports to satisfy Jamaica’s 
obligations under the WHO FCTC introduced 
prohibitions on, inter alia, tobacco sales, advertising, 
promotions and sponsorships, display bans, and a 
ban on investment in the Tobacco Industry. While 
governments are best placed to make public health 
policy, we know the tobacco business, and are therefore 
well placed to evaluate proposed policies that would 
regulate the tobacco industry. The Company is not 
opposed to regulation. Carreras Limited, in its review and 
assessment of the Bill has identified and is advocating 
for changes to the following nine (9) areas, which are 
deemed disproportionate and unconstitutional in any 
free and democratic society:

1. Sale of tobacco products in Public Place (all-
encompassing interpretation of Public Place);

2. Disruption of relationships with key business 
partners through the prohibition of incentives 
and discounts;

3. Ban on sponsorship and Corporate Social 
Responsibility initiatives;

4. Regulation of reduced risk products (RRPs) with 
tobacco;

5. Autonomy of the Minister of Health to prescribe 
and regulate the industry;

6. Ingredient reporting;

7. Display ban and the growth of the illicit trade;

8. Increase in the size of the Graphic Health 
Warnings (GHWs) from 60% to 90% 

9. Prohibition on investment in the tobacco 
industry by public entities and employees

1. Product sales in public places 

Sales bans and unreasonable regulation of bars, 
restaurants and other entertainment outlets will only 
serve to drive away customers and business in places 
that are already suffering as a result of the current crisis. 
We must rethink and amend provisions that do not 
consider the sustainability of these establishments and 
the employment that they provide.

Based on these restrictions, over 10,000 bars, restaurants 
and hotels will be forced to discontinue selling the 
tobacco category, robbing them of an estimated 29% 
of their revenue base needed to sustain their business 
and families. This drastic drop in revenue will threaten 
businesses and livelihoods. 

We insist that the ban on the sale of tobacco in public 
places is removed from the draft as it stands to severely 
affect small to medium enterprises at an already 
vulnerable time for entertainment. 

Part V of the draft tobacco bill speaks to the intent to 
create “tobacco smoke-free” environments in public 
places. Notwithstanding, owners and operators of bars, 
restaurants, clubs and tourist establishments may 
establish outdoor smoking areas. Our concerns with the 
stipulations for these designated areas is the fact that 
sale and promotion of our products are prohibited as 
well as the distance from non-smoking areas. There is 
a reasonable need for smoking areas to be established 
that do not infringe on the rights of smokers especially 
since all patrons to these establishments are above the 
legal age.

Ten (10) metres (approx. 32 feet) is an unreasonable 
and unrealistic distance to ask smokers to remove 
themselves in order to smoke. In the cases of restaurants, 
bars and areas where patrons are above the legal age, it 
is our view that outdoor smoking areas are designated 
so as not to infringe on the rights of smokers. This 
practice has been developed in other jurisdictions with 
the objective of creating a smoke-free environment 
for non-smokers while also making adequate provision 
for smokers. Consideration should also be given to 
the impact of this 10 metre (32ft) distance on tourists 
who patronize such entertainment channels and are 
accustomed to designated smoking areas within 
reasonable distances of enclosed spaces.

As it relates to distribution, promotion, branding or 
sale of tobacco products in designated smoking areas, 
we believe that marketing and promotional practices 
should be aimed at adult smokers so they can select 
their brands. Since the area is designated for smokers 
and it has been established that minors are not allowed 
to enter, it should be permissible to communicate 
with adult consumers regarding lawful products.  The 
proposed provision restricts the carrying on of trade 
and business. 

Legal And External Affairs
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2. Disruption of relationships with key business partners 

Another way in which this draft legislation is attempting to put 
small business at a permanent disadvantage is the way it is 
attempting to prohibit Carreras from offering retailer incentives 
and promoting discounted products.

We take issue specifically with some of the provisions in the Fourth 
Schedule that restrict business relations with our wholesale and 
retail outlets in the form of prohibiting us from offering incentives, 
promoting discounted products, retailer incentive programmes 
etc. In our view, there are less trade restrictive alternatives which 
are proportionate, effective, and feasible.

The wholesale and retail business models are predicated on the 
ability of business owners to negotiate the price of the product as 
well as the margins they collect from sales. There is no precedent 
for this prohibition with any other category of retail item and 
it is dangerous to set one now. All FMCGs utilize these models 
to drive business and to prevent one category from utilizing it is 
discriminatory. 

Part VII of the draft tobacco bill introduces provisions with the 
intent of banning tobacco advertising and promotion. While 
Carreras agrees to the need for proportionate restrictions on 
advertising, for instance to ensure that minors cannot be targeted 
by tobacco advertising, we are opposed to the introduction of the 
proposed measures, as it appears to prohibit all forms of tobacco 
product advertising and promotion and ban the display of tobacco 
products in retail outlets. 

We believe that the Schedule as currently drafted is unnecessary 
and unwarranted to meet the stated objective of meeting 
Jamaica's obligations under the World Health Organisation 
(“WHO”) Framework Convention on Tobacco Control (“FCTC”) 
or the public health objective of reducing smoking, and would be 
likely to lead to unintended adverse consequences. 

3. Ban on sponsorship and Corporate Social Responsibility 

Initiatives  

Part VII and the Fourth Schedule of the draft tobacco bill 
introduces restrictions on sponsorship. It prohibits acceptance of 
any sponsorship contribution. Carreras Limited is a responsible 
corporate citizen and is proud of the Corporate Social Responsibility 
initiatives that it is has rolled out out throughout the years. We are 
particularly proud of our scholarship programme that provides 
much needed funding to well deserving students in need. We have 
invested over $250 million and it is hoped that we can continue 
this initiative and others like it. 

Early 2000s

Steadfast in strengthening 
relationships with key stakeholders.
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4. Reference to relevant products 

The reference to “relevant products” after tobacco 
products would appear to suggest that the Act would 
also cover products that are not tobacco products, such 
as electronic nicotine delivery systems (ENDS). Carreras 
believes that this reference should be eliminated as 
such products fall outside the remit of tobacco control 
measures. 

Given the fundamental differences in product 
characteristics (i.e. they contain no tobacco, do not 
rely on combustion and do not generate smoke) and 
the lower risk profile of the product category. Nicotine 
products that do not contain tobacco, such as ENDS, 
should either be excluded from the Act altogether or, if 
they are included, they should not be subject to the same 
provisions as those that apply to tobacco products, 
meaning that a discrete set of provisions would need to 
be drawn up. 

Regulating ENDS with the same regulations for tobacco 
products would send an incorrect message. This 
would give the incorrect impression that both product 
categories have the same risk profile. Moreover, 
subjecting electronic delivery system to the same 
restrictive regulations would prevent the significant 
potential public health benefits that this product 
category may offer from materializing.

Public Health England backs vaping as being 95% 
safer than cigarettes based on today’s best estimates. 
Only good quality products supported by appropriate 
regulation can drive harm reduction, and without them 
tobacco harm reduction will never be a reality.

5. Autonomy of the Minister of Health to prescribe 

and regulate the industry 

Part II of the draft tobacco bill outlines the Power of the 
Minister. The provisions, specifically the reference to the 
regulation of design features; the labelling, packaging, 
sale, distribution and advertising controls; testing 
methods and standards, prohibition of constituents and 
ingredients and levels of tar, nicotine and other contents 
and emissions relate to substantive areas of law which 
affect the rights of interested parties. As such, they 
cannot be the object of Ministerial regulation, which 
ought to be limited to measures aimed at implementing 
the substantive obligations laid down in the law.

Carreras by no means opposes the adoption of evidence-
based tobacco control measures on the above matters. 
However, this should not be done by Ministerial fiat, but 
ought to be mandated directly by the Parliament. 

Carreras also wishes to reiterate that, in accordance with 
the best regulatory practices, any Regulation that the 
Minister proposes must be the object of consultation 
and all interested parties must be given an opportunity 
to be heard.

6. Ingredient Reporting 

Part VIII of the draft tobacco bill introduces provisions 
that speak to reports and information to be provided by 
the industry. It goes on to require disclosure of product 
characteristics in great detail.

As it is currently drafted, this form of reporting is 
unnecessary and onerous. As a practical matter, how 
useful is this provision to the actual implementation 
of the Act? How will the information be used? 
Fundamentally this provision is asking Carreras to share 
its trade secrets. Understandably, we are concerned 
about confidentiality concerns. 

We find that these types of provisions are not considering 
regulations that can be effectively implemented and are 
not adding value to the regulatory process.

7. Display ban and the growth of the illicit trade 

Part VI of the draft tobacco bill introduces a ban on the 
display of tobacco products. Carreras believes that this 
clause is disproportionate, as it prohibits the display of 
tobacco products for sale. The effect of this clause is to 
treat the product as an illegal product.

Display bans would increase the illicit tobacco trade 
by driving legal tobacco sales ‘under the counter’.  In 
particular, display bans would incentivize illicit trade by: 

i. Impeding the ability of enforcement agencies to 
identify illegal stock; 

ii. Preventing adult smokers from distinguishing 
between counterfeit and genuine tobacco 
products before making a purchase;

iii. Making it easier for unscrupulous retailers to mix 
illicit ‘under-the-counter’ tobacco products with 
legitimate stock; and 

iv. Blurring the distinction between legitimate and 
illicit products, which would all be ‘under cover’, 
making it harder to reinforce public appreciation 
that smuggling, counterfeit and piracy are 
crimes. 

Display bans disproportionately penalize small retailers 
and specialist tobacconists. Small retailers, who derive 
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Steadfast in strengthening 
relationships with key stakeholders.

a large portion of their revenue from tobacco products, would be 
less likely to be able to bear the costs of compliance involved in 
re-fitting their stores.  Small retailers would also be more likely to 
lose sales to larger stores, as the display of products helps counter 
the incorrect assumption that larger stores have a bigger range 
of products available.  Specialist tobacconists, whose business is 
reliant on their ability to stock a wide range of tobacco products, 
will be at a particular disadvantage compared to other retailers. 

8. Increase in the size of the Graphic Health Warnings (GHWs)

The GHWs that are on our current tobacco products occupy 60% of 
the front and back of our packs. It is the intent of this draft tobacco 
bill to increase the GHWs to 80%. Health warnings should only be 
used to inform smokers about the health risk associated with the 
consumption of tobacco products. Taking a considerable space of 
the pack or requiring measures as the ones in clause 20 and First 
schedule of an 80% goes too far and is unnecessary. Furthermore, 
health warnings should be implemented only after consultation 
with all involved stakeholders including tobacco manufacturers. 

It should be noted that the FCTC requires only a text health 
warning that covers no more than 30% of the principal display 
areas of a tobacco package.  

Health warnings such as those proposed in this clause and 
First Schedule unreasonably restrict producers’ ability to display 
their trademark due to the fact that they go beyond the FCTC 
requirement of 30% health warnings, without there being a 
clear need to do so, due to the fact that there is near-universal 
awareness about the risks associated with smoking. 

Indeed, there is no deficit of information among consumers 
about the health risks associated with smoking that large graphic 
health warnings could address. Awareness of these risks is nearly 
universal.  Precisely because there is no information deficit, studies 
show that graphic health warnings are not effective in achieving 
an actual reduction in smoking prevalence. 

Instead of enacting proportionate and evidence-based restrictions, 
these measures would almost entirely prevent the Company from 
being able to communicate with adult consumers with regards to 
its lawful products and is therefore disproportionate. 

9. Prohibition on investment in the tobacco industry by public 

entities and employees  

Finally, we take issue with the unnecessary and disproportionate 
prohibition on investment in the tobacco industry. Part II of the 
draft tobacco bill includes a provision that prevents a person 
employed with a public body from investing in the tobacco 
industry or related ventures. This is of grave concern as one of 
Carreras’ longstanding investors is Jamaica’s National Insurance 
Fund (NIF) which is the investment arm of Jamaica’s National 
Insurance Scheme (NIS). This will also impact thousands of 
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shareholders who are employed by public bodies from 
investing and supplementing their income. The draft bill 
is too subjective for too many people. Legislation cannot 
be created that turns into a subjective interpretation. 

Based on our concerns, we commenced advocating 
for the enactment of a balanced, fair and practical 
TCA, whilst emphasizing that we are not averse to 
Regulations, as we are fully compliant with the current 
Tobacco Control Regulations in force. Further, we 
ensure the full compliance of our employees with our 
own International Marketing Principles that set out 
guidelines governing the responsible marketing and 
distribution of our products.

Based on the consultative approach taken, it is our hope 
that at the end of the democratic process a balanced 
and comprehensive bill will be enacted, a bill which seeks 
to support the intent of the lawmakers while continuing 
to allow a balanced market environment for the legal 
industry, and one which continues to ensure that illicit 
and tax evading activities are hindered.

Continued cooperation with the industry will often 
be necessary to ensure that policies achieve their 
desired objectives and do not produce unintended 
consequences. It is through interaction, consideration 
and discussion of the issues that the most balanced 

policy is made. 

Tobacco Excise and Government 
Revenue
The Ministry of Finance (MoF) must be applauded for its 
astute fiscal management of the economy particularly 
in the throes of a global pandemic. Jamaica’s economy 
has been one of the better managed in the region, and 
from all indicators, the future is bright as the country 
emerges from the worst of this pandemic. Equally, 
the Ministry must also be applauded for recognizing 
the direct correlation between excise shocks and the 
growth of the illicit trade and the resultant reduction in 
government revenue.

Anti-Illicit Trade
The unprecedented crisis which came with COVID-19 
has undoubtedly contributed to the rise in smuggling 
worldwide, affecting all aspects of society. Criminal 
networks that smuggle for profit continued to thrive 
as they re-organized themselves amidst restrictions in 
order to sustain their operations. 

Illicit trade continues to be a threat to the Company 
and for this reason, it remains our main priority. We are 
aware of the dynamic environment in which we operate 
and the continuing fight against this trade is critical. 
We see it as a significant and growing problem for 
governments, law enforcement agencies, our business, 
and our partners and those who operate legally. 

The illicit trade in tobacco products has been and 
continues to be a major challenge for Jamaica. It has 
been independently estimated that 1 in 5 of all cigarettes 
consumed on the island does not pay the requisite duties. 
Further, in certain areas of the island such as Kingston, 
Saint Catherine and their environs, the ratio of duty not 
paid (DNP) cigarettes can increase to 2 in 5. Notably, 
this illicit trade in cigarettes, which is conservatively 
estimated to be more than 2 billion dollars per annum, 
robs the state of much needed revenue required for 
growth and development. 

For years the statistics have brought to bear the 
magnitude of the illicit trade on the island which has 
been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic. The 
imposed restrictions and reductions in the labour force 
have resulted in changing consumer preferences as the 
price gap between licit and illicit products increased. 
These conditions have lured consumers into purchasing 
cheaper alternatives that evade taxes and excise. As 
the country continues its road to economic recovery, 
we believe that the Government has an opportunity to 
further accelerate this process by addressing the loss 
of revenue to the illicit trade and injecting same into 
critical social programs. 

The key to this illicit fight must be enforcement, which 
includes the protection of the borders and ensuring that 
the marketplace is kept clear of these smuggled offers. 
Equally important is the need for severe penalties for 
those caught engaging in this industry, as the current 
penalties are diminutive; which when combined with 
the value of the industry makes for a very lucrative risk/
reward equation.

The consequences of this trade range from national 
security, economic loss from tax evasions, trademark 
infringements, undermining of brand investments, 
and detrimental quality issues associated with 
poor manufacturing conditions. Smugglers are well 
coordinated, and the criminal nature of the illicit 
cigarette trade has a significant detrimental effect on 
society and should be the focus of collective effort and 
attention by all stakeholders.
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For the reporting period, fifty-six (56) students were awarded 
Carreras scholarships and bursaries, valued at over fifteen 
million Jamaican Dollars (JMD$15,000,000).

The annual scholarships are presented to students pursuing 
various fields of study at numerous tertiary level institutions 
across Jamaica, including Teachers’ Colleges, Community 
Colleges, and Universities. 

The scholars all have an exemplary academic record and are in 
need of financial assistance. They are also Jamaican citizens, 
eighteen (18) years and older who have achieved at least a B 
average or a 3.0 GPA in the previous academic year.

The scholarships have been in existence for almost sixty 
(60) years, but for the first time in history, a new scholarship 
initiative was implemented - The Carreras Scholarship Cross 
Country.

Unlike previous years where scholars have been recognized at 
an awards ceremony, this year steps were taken by Carreras to 
visit select scholars at their homes to personally present them 
with their scholarship cheques and certificates.  

According to Managing Director Raoul Glynn, the gesture is a 
unique way of acknowledging the scholars, and it was also fully 
compliant with the COVID-19 restrictions at the time.   

He says, “The Company was determined to find a way to 
congratulate the scholars. Not only did it guarantee the safety 
of the scholars and our employees, but it was also a special 
way of expressing how proud we are of the scholars for their 
outstanding academic performance despite the challenges 
posed by the COVID-19 pandemic”. It also gave Carreras 
the opportunity to interact with the parents, caregivers and 
communities, all of which were instrumental in creating the 
fertile landscape from which these students continue to 
flourish. Carreras is proud to be able to do its part.

Eleven (11) of the fifty-six (56) scholars were selected from 
various Universities across Jamaica for the personalized 
handovers, namely Alyanna Mighty, Tiana Rae Campbell, Paris 
Clare, Jamila Turner, Derron Jackson, Tahj Monique McCauley, 
Tiphaney Lewis, Tasseika Dunn, Julian Francis, Stephanie 
Wright and McKeeley Foster.

Carreras Scholarship Cross Country Brings Cheer to 
Eleven (11) 2021 Scholarship Recipients

Corporate Social 
Responsibility

THROUGH THE YEARS
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Each member of the Carreras Leadership Team visited the 
scholars at his or her home, workplace, or school in order 
to make the presentations. The Member of Parliament or 
Councillor for each scholar was also invited to join in the 
short handovers which were carried out in December 2021.

Since the handovers, the commendations from the scholars, 
Members of Parliament and Councillors have been never 
ending. Each scholar has also expressed their utmost 
appreciation to Carreras for the financial assistance they 
have received and for the kind gesture they have been shown.

According to Nursing student at the Excelsior Community 
College, Derron Jackson, “I am truly grateful to be one of the 
recipients of this scholarship because it has helped to put 
me one step closer to achieving my dream of becoming a 
Registered Nurse, so a big thank you to Carreras Limited”.

Tasseika Dunn, a third-year student pursuing Medicine and 
Surgery at the University of the West Indies, Mona Campus, 
has expressed that “Last year this time I was actually rejected 
for Medicine, and I had to take a whole other route… and 
without this scholarship my dreams would not have been 
realized, so I’m grateful and I hope to help others in the same 
way that you have helped me.”

Similar sentiments were shared by Tiphaney Lewis, a student 
at the Montego Bay Community College. “Thanks to Carreras 
for giving me this opportunity to achieve my academic goal 
of becoming a Social Worker, I really really appreciate it”, she 
says.

As a result of the positive feedback and the unique opportunity 
the Carreras leadership team had in meeting and interacting 
with the scholars during the handovers, Carreras hopes to 
make the Scholarship Cross Country a lasting tradition. 

One hundred and twenty-five (125) tertiary-level Carreras 
scholarships valued at thirty million dollars ($30 million) have 
been awarded to students over the past three (3) years alone 
and the Carreras Tertiary Student Scholarship Programme 
has contributed approximately two hundred and fifty million 
dollars ($250 million) in educational empowerment to date.

According to Managing Director Raoul Glynn, as Jamaica 
continues to battle an ongoing pandemic, “Our young people 
need all the academic support they can get now more than 
ever, and we will continue to do as much as we can, as long as 
we can for the promising young men and women of Jamaica 
who just need our help”.

Managing Director and MP Graham presenting 
cheque to scholarship awardee

HR Business Partner presenting cheque to 
scholarship awardee

LEX Manager presenting cheque to scholarship 
awardee
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Strong legacy of contributing to 
Jamaica through the CARRERAS 
Scholarship program.Managing Director presenting scholarship cheque to awardee and her 

mother

Marketing Deployment Manager presenting cheque to scholarship awardee

Head of Trade and MP Samuda presenting cheque to scholarship awardee
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LEX Manager and Councillor Slop presenting cheque to 
scholarship awardee

LEX Manager and Councillor Crawford  presenting cheque to 
scholarship awardee

Managing Director and MP Graham presenting cheque to 
scholarship awardee

HR Business Partner and MP Office Manager presenting 
cheque to scholarship awardee

LEX Manager presenting cheque to scholarship awardee
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Electric Vehicle Initiative
Driven by the lean, clean methodology of continuous improvement 
and environmental sustainability, in 2021 Carreras Limited started 
exploring the possibility of utilizing electric vehicles in our fleet.

The research has shown that utilizing these vehicles would increase 
our delivery capacity by 300%, decrease our fleet operating cost 
per year between 30 – 40% and reduce our CO2 emission by three 
(3) CO2 tonnes per year, per vehicle.

In the same year we joined in partnership with JAMECO, a local 
vehicle supplier to procure these vehicles, and received the first set 
of five (5) in June 2022. The vehicles are currently being retrofitted 
so as to be compliant with our EHS and safety requirements, after 
which they will be assigned to the Kingston routes, which go as far 
as St. Thomas and into the hills of St. Catherine.

The vehicles are expected to be in full use by the latter part of 
July 2022. Drivers will be fully briefed on the use of these vehicles 
with the assistance of JAMECO and XERGY ENERGY, who are 
consultant partners to the Government of Jamaica.

Carreras Limited is proud to be one of the first companies in 
Jamaica to launch such an initiative.   

THROUGH THE YEARS
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Against the backdrop of an ongoing pandemic, we focused 
our agenda on building on the foundations laid in 2020 in areas 
such as Talent Management, Communication and Employee 
Engagement as we worked to build an organization of engaged 
and capable people, delivering consistent and sustainable 
business performance.

Talent Agenda
Our aspiration to deliver a robust talent pipeline from which 
key roles can be filled using internal talent remain our strategic 
priority, along with our work on succession bench strength for 
senior and key roles. In 2021, we deepened our commitment 
to developing talent through challenging local and overseas 
assignments and to preferentially fill vacancies with internal 
talent. To this end, we are proud to have filled nineteen (19) 
vacancies with internal candidates via lateral moves or 
promotions. Additionally, we secured short term assignments 
overseas for Legal Coordinator, Bjorn Spence and Trade 
Marketing Representative, Kurt Sutherland and will continue 
to seek such opportunities for our people in the coming year.  

Our drive to bring critical skills and experiences into the 
organization through externally sourced talent continued as 
we welcomed twelve (12) such new hires who have added to 
our talent pool and organizational capability. We are proud to 
have increased our workforce, equipping our business for the 
future, at a time when so many Jamaican workers faced job 
insecurity, downsizing and lay-offs.  

Communication and Engagement 
For a second year in a row, the challenges of the pandemic 
resulted in new and innovative ways to enable consistent 
communication, as we used available technology to create a 
compelling vision of the future for our employees while working 
to build a sense of community and unity within the organization. 
Our digital town hall meetings remained the formal forum for 
delivering business updates, sharing our progress against 
targets, and building on the ideas from the entire organization. 
Through our recently convened Employee Engagement 
Committee we launched the Carreras Champions League 
Awards which recognizes performance excellence and tangible 
contributions to business results in all functions. These awards 
have added a new dimension to our Town Hall meetings as 
we recognize and celebrate these performances as a team.  
During the year we have taken our internal communication 
mobile leveraging our Teams and Whatsapp groups to deliver 
key messages, business updates and employee awareness 
materials, in real time in a modern and engaging format. 
Led by our Employee Engagement Committee we have also 

Human Resources

Head of Trade presenting award to Champion’s 
League recipient

Commercial Finance Manager presenting award to 
Champion’s League recipient

Carreras Champion’s League awardee with prize 
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developed a vibrant employee engagement calendar designed to 
consistently celebrate successes, build comradery and provide 
respite from the daily routine.  

COVID-19
In response to the evolving situation with COVID-19 we have 
maintained our approach of control, monitoring, education and 
support throughout the period. We continued to implement best 
practices from Jamaica and across BAT to deliver a proactive, 
flexible and fit for purpose pandemic response serving the needs 
of our business and safeguarding the health of our employees. Our 
Communication and Awareness Programme was largely focused 
on vaccine education as we worked tirelessly to overcome the 
widespread vaccine hesitancy affecting the wider Jamaican 
population. Our participation in the Private Sector Vaccine 
Initiative provided our employees with ready access vaccines in 
convenient locations and under comfortable conditions. We are 
pleased to have over 70% of our employees fully vaccinated, and 
this is well above the national average of 23% .

During the period April 2021 to March 2022, Carreras Limited 
recorded 13 cases of Covid-19.

In 2022, we will continue to strengthen our foundations as we work 
toward our aspiration of building a culture of engaged, sustained, 
winning, performance.  Our focus areas include: 

฀	 Compensation and Benefits 
฀	 Organizational Culture 

Staff members receiving covid-19 sanitization packages

International Women’s Day photoshoot for female staff
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

To the Members of  

CARRERAS LIMITED 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of Carreras Limited (“the company”) 

comprising the separate financial statements of the company and the 

consolidated financial statements of the company and its subsidiaries (“the 

group”), set out on pages 93 to 134, which comprise the group’s and 

company’s statement of financial position as at March 31, 2022, the group’s 

and company’s statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, 

changes in equity and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes, 

comprising significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view 

of the financial position of the group and the company as at March 31, 2022, 

and of the group’s and company’s financial performance and cash flows for 

the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting 

Standards (IFRS) and the Jamaican Companies Act. 

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on 

Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under those standards are further 

described in the Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial 

Statements section of our report. We are independent of the company in 

accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants 

International Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants including 

International Independence Standards (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our 

other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe 

that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion.



 

•

•

•

•

•

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

To the Members of  

CARRERAS LIMITED 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

Key Audit Matter 

Key audit matter is a matter that, in our professional judgment, was of most 

significance in our audit of the financial statements of the current period. This 

matter was addressed in the context of our audit of the financial statements as 

a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on this matter.  

Valuation of defined benefit pension asset and other retirement benefit 

obligations 

Key audit matter How the matter was addressed in 
our audit 

The group operates a defined 

benefit pension plan that provides 

retirement benefits to the 

members. The group also provides 

medical and life benefits for its 

pensioners. 

The valuation of these benefits 

depends on a number of factors 

and assumptions.  The key 

assumptions include life 

expectancy, discount rates, 

inflation, and future increases in 

salaries, pensions and medical 

benefits premium. 

Due to the complexity of the 

calculations, management 

appointed an external actuarial 

expert to measuring the employee 

benefit asset and obligations at the 

reporting date. 

The use of significant assumptions 

increases the risk that 

management’s estimate can be 

materially misstated.  

[See notes 2(c), 9 and 21(n)] 

Our audit procedures in response to 

this matter, included:  

• Evaluating the independence and

objectivity of the appointed

actuarial expert.

• Using our own actuarial

specialists to assist in

determining that the actuarial

valuation was performed in

accordance with the requirements

of IAS 19 Employee Benefits.

• Testing employee data and assets

information provided by

management to the actuarial

expert.

• Assessing key assumptions used

by the actuary, including inflation

and discount rates, by comparing

them to information from

independent sources.

• Assessing whether disclosures in

the financial statements are

appropriate in respect of the

group’s employee benefit

arrangements.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

To the Members of  

CARRERAS LIMITED 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information 

comprises the information included in the annual report but does not include 

the financial statements and our auditors’ report thereon.  The annual report is 

expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors’ report. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 

and we will not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to 

read the other information identified above when it becomes available and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent 

with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or 

otherwise appears to be materially misstated.When we read the annual 

report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are 

required to communicate the matter to those charged with governance. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the 

Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give 

a true and fair view in accordance with IFRS and the Jamaican Companies Act, 

and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable 

the preparation of financial statements that are free from material 

misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing 

the company’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, 

matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the group and the 

company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the company’s 

financial reporting process. 



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

To the Members of  

CARRERAS LIMITED 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements (continued) 

Auditors’ Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial 

statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to 

fraud or error, and to issue an auditors’ report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that 

an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material 

misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 

are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on 

the basis of these financial statements. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial 

statements is included in the Appendix to this auditors’ report. This 

description, which is located at pages 91 to 92, forms part of our auditors’ 

report. 

Report on additional matters as required by the Jamaican Companies Act 

We have obtained all the information and explanations which, to the best of our 

knowledge and belief, were necessary for the purposes of our audit. 

In our opinion, proper accounting records have been maintained, so far as 

appears from our examination of those records, and the financial statements, 

which are in agreement therewith, give the information required by the 

Jamaican Companies Act in the manner required. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ 

report is Nyssa Johnson. 

CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS 

Kingston, Jamaica 

May 30, 2022 

 

•

•

•

•

•
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

To the Members of  

CARRERAS LIMITED 

Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ report 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment 

and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial

statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit

procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is

sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not

detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for

one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional

omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to

design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not

for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the

group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the

reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures made by

management.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going

concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence obtained,

whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that

may cast significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a going

concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required

to draw attention in our auditors’ report to the related disclosures in the

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our

opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to

the date of our auditors’ report. However, future events or conditions may

cause the company to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial

statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial

statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner

that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial

information of the entities or business activities within the group to express

an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.  We are responsible

for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit.  We

remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED) 

To the Members of  

CARRERAS LIMITED 

Appendix to the Independent Auditors’ report (continued) 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other 

matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit 

findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 

identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have 

complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and 

communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, 

actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we 

determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the 

financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit 

matters. We describe these matters in our auditors’ report unless law or 

regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 

rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated 

in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably 

be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 

 

•

•

•

•

•
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 Notes 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 
 
Operating revenue 3 15,754,978 13,971,292 

Cost of operating revenue 4 (  8,179,374) (  7,158,983) 

Gross operating profit  7,575,604 6,812,309 

Other operating income 5      183,908      219,389 

    7,759,512   7,031,698 

 

Administrative, distribution and marketing 

   expenses 6 (  2,244,402) (  1,991,389) 

Lease interest expense 11 (       18,370) (       20,584) 

Impairment loss reversed/ (recognised) on  

   trade receivables 18          3,181 (         2,927) 

Employee benefits expense 9(i)(e),9(ii)(c) (       71,300) (        56,900) 

     (  2,330,891) (  2,071,800) 

Profit before income tax  5,428,621 4,959,898 

Income tax 7(a) (  1,355,342) (  1,221,622) 

Profit for the year     4,073,279   3,738,276 
 
Other comprehensive income/ (loss) 

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss: 
Change in effect of asset ceiling 9(i)(f) 235,300 59,100 
Remeasurement (loss)/ gain on plan assets 9(i)(f) (279,500) 348,900 

 Remeasurement gain/ (loss) on obligation 9(i)(f),9(ii)(d) 96,100 (     424,200) 
Income tax on other comprehensive income/ (loss) 15(b) (      12,975)        4,050 

Other comprehensive income/ (loss), net of tax         38,925 (     12,150) 

Total comprehensive income for the year    4,112,204   3,726,126 
 

Profit attributable to: 

Stockholders’ interests in parent 8   4,073,279 3,738,276 

Total comprehensive income attributable to: 

Stockholders’ interests in parent    4,112,204 3,726,126 

Earnings per ordinary stock unit 8        83.91¢      77.01¢ 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Group Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended March 31, 2022



Group Statement of Financial Position
March 31, 2022
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Group Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended March 31, 2022

 

 
  Share    
  capital Unappropriated  
  (note 14) profits Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 
 

Balances at March 31, 2020 121,360 1,651,136 1,772,496 

Profit for the year       -       3,738,276 3,738,276 

Other comprehensive loss: 

Remeasurement of employee benefit  
   assets and obligation, net of taxes       -       (     12,150) (     12,150) 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year       -       3,726,126 3,726,126 

Transactions with owners 

Dividends and distributions (note 19)       -       (3,398,080) (3,398,080) 

Balances at March 31, 2021 121,360 1,979,182 2,100,542 

Profit for the year       -       4,073,279 4,073,279 

Other comprehensive loss: 

Remeasurement of employee benefit  
   assets and obligation, net of taxes       -            38,925      38,925 
 
Total comprehensive income for the year       -       4,112,204 4,112,204 

Transactions with owners 

Dividends and distributions (note 19)       -       (4,126,240) (4,126,240) 

Balances at March 31, 2022 121,360 1,965,146 2,086,506  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  



 
 2022 2021 
 Notes $'000 $'000 
    
Cash flows from operating activities 

 Profit for the year  4,073,279 3,738,276 
 Adjustments for: 
 Depreciation 10,11 144,000 170,865 
 Employee benefits 60,300 46,500 
 Income tax expense 7(a) 1,355,342 1,221,622 
 Foreign exchange gain 5 (     17,831) (     20,709) 
 Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 (      8,805) (       1,351) 

 Interest expense 11 18,370 20,584 
 Investment income earned 5 (     17,237) (     40,288) 

   5,607,418 5,135,499 
 Changes in: 

Accounts receivable (   116,382) (   356,174) 
Inventories (   540,806) (   126,385) 
Accounts payable      52,604    331,000 

Cash generated from operations 5,002,834 4,983,940 
Income tax paid (1,217,939) (1,192,783) 

  Net cash provided by operating activities 3,784,895 3,791,157 

Cash flows from investing activities 

 Investment income received 30,409 34,000 
 Additions to property, plant and equipment 10 (   200,462) (   174,844) 
 Proceeds of disposal of property, plant and equipment      13,026          6,119 

  Net cash used by investing activities (   157,027) (   134,725) 

Cash flows from financing activities 

 Payment of lease liabilities, net  11(d) (     49,581) (     75,376) 
 Dividends and distributions 19 (4,126,240) (3,398,080) 

  Net cash used by financing activities (4,175,821) (3,473,456) 

Net (decrease)/ increase in cash and cash equivalents  

 before effect of foreign exchange rate changes (   547,953) 182,976 
 
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 17,831      20,709 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,228,153 2,024,468 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12                   1,698,031         2,228,153
   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.  
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 Notes 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

 

Operating revenue  3 15,754,978 13,971,292 

Cost of operating revenue 4 (  8,179,374) (  7,158,983)  

Gross operating profit  7,575,604 6,812,309 

Other operating income 5      179,666      210,045 

   7,755,270   7,022,354 

Administrative, distribution and marketing 

   expenses 6 (  2,244,374) (  1,991,353) 

Lease interest expense 11 (       18,370) (       20,584) 

Impairment loss reversed/ (recognised) on  

   trade receivables 18 3,181 (         2,927) 

Employee benefits expense  9(i)(e),9(ii)(c) (       71,300) (       56,900) 

Profit before income tax  5,424,407 4,950,590 

Income tax 7(d) (  1,355,342) (  1,221,622) 

Profit for the year     4,069,065   3,728,968 

Other comprehensive income/ (loss) 

Items that will never be reclassified to profit or loss: 
Change in effect of asset ceiling 9(i)(f) 235,300 59,100 
Remeasurement (loss)/ gain on plan assets 9(i)(f) (    279,500) 348,900 
Remeasurement gain/ (loss) on obligation 9(i)(f),9(ii)(d) 96,100 (     424,200) 
Income tax on other comprehensive gain/ (loss) 15(b) (      12,975)          4,050 

Other comprehensive income/ (loss), net of tax         38,925 (       12,150) 

 Total comprehensive income for the year    4,107,990   3,716,818 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Company Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
Year ended March 31, 2022



Company Statement of Financial Position
March 31, 2022
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  Share    
  capital Unappropriated  
  (note 14)  profits  Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 
 

Balances at March 31, 2020 121,360 1,575,875 1,697,235 

Profit for the year      -       3,728,968 3,728,968 
 

Other comprehensive loss: 
Remeasurement of employee benefit  
   asset and obligation, net of taxes      -       (     12,150) (     12,150) 

Total comprehensive income for the year       -       3,716,818 3,716,818 

Transactions with owners 
Dividends paid (note 19)      -       (3,398,080) (3,398,080)  

 
Balances at March 31, 2021 121,360 1,894,613 2,015,973  

Profit for the year      -         4,069,065   4,069,065  
 

Other comprehensive loss: 
Remeasurement of employee benefit  
   asset and obligation, net of taxes      -            38,925      38,925 

Total comprehensive income for the year       -       4,107,990 4,107,990 

Transactions with owners 
Dividends paid (note 19)      -       (4,126,240) (4,126,240) 

 
Balances at March 31, 2022 121,360  1,876,363 1,997,723  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements.

Company Statement of Changes in Equity
Year ended March 31, 2022



 

 
 2022 2021 
 Notes $'000 $'000 
 

Cash flows from operating activities 

 Profit for the year   4,069,065 3,728,968 
 Adjustments for: 

Depreciation 10,11 144,000 170,865 
Employee benefits 60,300 46,500 
Gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 5 (       8,805) (       1,351) 
Foreign exchange gain 5 (     13,614) (     11,353) 
Income tax expense 7(d) 1,355,342 1,221,622 
Interest expense  11 18,370 20,584 
Investment income earned 5 (     17,212) (     40,312) 

   5,607,446 5,135,523 
Changes in: 

Accounts receivable (   116,382) (   356,174) 
Inventories (   540,806) (   126,385) 
Accounts payable      52,604    331,000 

Cash generated from operations 5,002,862 4,983,964 
Income tax paid (1,217,878) (1,192,838) 

  Net cash provided by operating activities 3,784,984 3,791,126 

Cash flows from investing activities 

 Investment income received 30,384 34,024 
 Additions to property, plant and equipment 10 (   200,462) (   174,844) 
 Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment      13,026          6,119 

  Net cash used by investing activities (   157,052) (   134,701) 

Cash flows from financing activities 

 Payment of lease liabilities, net  11(d) (     49,581) (     75,376) 
 Dividends and distribution paid 19 (4,126,240) (3,398,080) 

  Net cash used by financing activities (4,175,821) (3,473,456) 

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents  

 before effect of foreign exchange rate changes (   547,889) 182,969 

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 13,614 11,353 

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 2,130,346 1,936,024 

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 12 1,596,071 2,130,346 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes form an integral part of the financial statements. 

Company Statement of Cash Flows
Year ended March 31, 2022
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Notes to the Financial Statements
March 31, 2022

 

 
1. Identification and principal activity 
 
 Carreras Limited (“the company”) is incorporated and domiciled in Jamaica and is listed on the Jamaica 

Stock Exchange. It is a 50.4% subsidiary of Rothmans Holdings (Caricom) Limited, which is incorporated 
in St. Lucia. The ultimate parent company is British American Tobacco plc, incorporated in the United 
Kingdom and listed on the London Stock Exchange. The principal activities of the company are the 
marketing and distribution of cigarettes.    

 
The address of the principal place of business and the registered office of the company is 13A Ripon Road, 
Kingston 5, Jamaica. 

 
2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation 

 
(a) Statement of compliance: 
 

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and their interpretations issued by the International Accounting Standards Board, 
and comply with the provisions of the Jamaican Companies Act. 
 

A summary of significant accounting policies is included in note 21. 
 

(b) Basis of measurement and functional currency: 
 

The financial statements are presented on the historical cost basis. Unless otherwise stated, the 
financial statements are presented in thousands of Jamaica dollars ($’000), which is the functional 
currency of the company. 

 
(c) Accounting estimates and judgements: 
 
 The preparation of the financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make 

judgements, estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and the reported 
amounts of, and disclosures related to, assets, liabilities, contingent assets and contingent liabilities 
at the reporting date and the income and expenses for the year then ended.  The estimates and 
associated assumptions are based on historical experience and/or various other factors that are 
believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.  Actual amounts could differ from these 
estimates. 
 

 The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.  Revisions to 
accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision 
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both 
current and future periods. 

 

Key sources of estimation uncertainty: 
 

• Employee benefits [see notes 9 and 21(n)]: 
 

 The amounts recognised in the statement of financial position and statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income for pension and other post-employment benefits are 
determined actuarially using several assumptions. The primary assumptions used in 
determining the amounts recognised include the discount rate used to determine the present 
value of estimated future cash flows required to settle the pension and other post-employment 
obligations and the expected rate of increase in medical costs for post-employment medical 
benefits. 

 
 Any changes in these assumptions would impact the amounts recorded in the financial 

statements for these obligations. 



 
2. Statement of compliance and basis of preparation (continued) 
 

(c) Accounting estimates and judgements (continued): 
 

• Allowance for impairment losses [see notes 13 and 21(o)]: 
 

  Allowances for doubtful accounts are determined upon origination of the trade accounts 
receivable based on a model that calculates the expected credit loss (“ECL”).  

 
  Under the ECL model, the group analyses its accounts receivable in a matrix by days past due 

and determined for each age bracket an average rate of ECL, considering actual credit loss 
experience over the last 12 months and analysis of future delinquency, that is applied to the 
balance of the accounts receivable. 

 
The average ECL rate increases in each segment of days past due until the rate is 100% for the 
applicable ageing bracket. 

 
 

3. Operating revenue 
 
 Operating revenue for the group and the company represents the invoiced value of products and services 

sold and includes special consumption tax aggregating $6,901,245,000 (2021: $6,105,684,000). 
 
 

4. Cost of operating revenue  
 
    The Group and the Company 
    2022 2021 
     $'000 $'000 
  

 Special consumption tax   6,901,245 6,105,684 
 Customs administration fee   428,143 393,728 
 Material and related costs      849,986    659,571 

     8,179,374 7,158,983 

 
Inventory write-off recognised in profit or loss is $858,000 (2021: $2,838,000). 

 
 
5. Other operating income 

    The Group   The Company  
   2022 2021 2022 2021

 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 
 Interest income 17,237 40,288 17,212 40,312 
 Exchange gain 17,831 20,709 13,614 11,353 

 Gain on disposal of property, plant and 
 equipment 8,805 1,351 8,805 1,351 
 Unclaimed dividends written back (note 16) 36,267 91,036 36,267 91,036 
 Miscellaneous income 103,768   66,005 103,768   65,993 

  183,908 219,389 179,666  210,045 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2022
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6. Expense by Nature: 
 

(a) Administrative Expenses:  
    The Group   The Company  
 2022 2021 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 

Staff costs 381,517 333,138 381,517 333,138 
Directors’ fees  9,737 10,857 9,737 10,857 
Depreciation 72,491 61,649 72,491 61,649 
Auditors’ remuneration 9,900 9,000 9,900 9,000 
Occupancy costs  41,094 30,341 41,094 30,341 
Transportation, travel and entertainment 21,433 27,071 21,433 27,071 
Security  25,700 19,332 25,700 19,332 
Insurance  1,327 19,603 1,327 19,603 
Legal, professional and consultancy fees 70,102 85,754 70,102 85,754 
Technical and advisory fees  199,192 174,931 199,192 174,931 
Business support services  174,230 106,819 174,230 106,819 
Repairs and maintenance  16,457 4,823 16,457 4,823 
Shared service centre  42,671 46,583 42,671 46,583 
Information technology  144,389 110,945 144,389 110,945 
Bank charges  34,642 18,062 34,642 18,062 
Other expenses       11,939      46,653      11,911 46,617 

  1,256,821 1,105,561 1,256,793 1,105,525 
(b) Distribution expenses: 

    The Group   The Company  
 2022 2021 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 

Staff costs  495,690 431,200 495,690 431,200 
Depreciation  71,509 109,216 71,509 109,216 
Occupancy costs  34,324 26,554 34,324 26,554 
Transportation and travel  119,619 75,575 119,619 75,575 
Repairs and maintenance  1,711 1,689 1,711 1,689 
Security  95,034 91,964 95,034 91,964 
Insurance  13,270 4,250 13,270 4,250 
Legal, professional and consultancy fees 24,966 24,165 24,966 24,165 
Information technology  2,692 2,143 2,692 2,143 
Other expenses       1,937     9,505      1,937     9,505 

   860,752 776,261  860,752 776,261 
 

(c) Marketing expenses: 
    The Group   The Company  
 2022 2021 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 

Sponsorship 111,911 74,827 111,911 74,827 
Promotions 9,892 31,531 9,892 31,531 
Product development       5,026        3,209     5,026     3,209 

     126,829    109,567 126,829 109,567 

Total administrative, distribution and  
   marketing expenses  2,244,402 1,991,389             2.244,374 1,991,353 

  

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2022



 
 

7. Income tax 

 
The Group: 

  
(a) Income tax is computed at 25% of the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation purposes, and is 

made up as follows: 
 2022 2021 
 $'000 $'000 

 Current: 
  Provision for charge on current year’s profit 1,366,623 1,250,180 
  

 Deferred: 
  Origination and reversal of temporary differences  [note 15(b)] (     11,281) (     28,558) 

 Income tax expense for the year 1,355,342 1,221,622 
 

  
 (b) Reconciliation of actual tax charge and effective tax rate: 
  2022 2021 
   $'000  $'000 

 Profit before income tax  5,428,621 4,959,898 
 Computed "expected" tax charge at 25% 1,357,155 1,239,975 
 Taxation difference between profit for financial 
  statements and tax reporting purposes on: 
  Depreciation and capital allowances  14,142 18,970 
  Foreign exchange gains  135 2,339 
  IFRS 16, Leases  (      9,534) (     12,321) 
  Items not allowed for tax purposes  (      6,556) (     27,341) 

 Actual tax charge  1,355,342 1,221,622 

 Effective tax rate     24.97%      24.63% 

 
 (c) At March 31, 2022, taxation losses in subsidiaries, subject to agreement by Tax Administration 

Jamaica, amounted to approximately $777,748,000 (2021: $777,748,000).  These losses may be 
carried forward indefinitely.  The amount that can be utilised in any one assessment year is restricted 
to 50% of chargeable income (before utilising any prior year losses) of that assessment year.  

 

The Company: 

 
 (d) Income tax is computed at 25% of the profit for the year, as adjusted for taxation purposes, and is 

made up as follows: 
 2022 2021
 $'000 $'000 

 Current: 
  Provision for charge on current year’s profit 1,366,623 1,250,180 

 Deferred: 
  Origination and reversal of temporary differences 
     [note 15(b)]  (     11,281) (     28,558) 

 Income tax expense for the year 1,355,342 1,221,622 
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7. Income tax (continued) 

 
The Company (continued): 

 
 (e) Reconciliation of actual tax charge and effective tax rate: 
  2022 2021 
   $'000  $'000 

 Profit before income tax  5,424,407 4,950,590 

 Computed "expected" tax charge at 25%  1,356,101 1,237,648 
 Taxation difference between profit for financial 
  statements and tax reporting purposes on – 
  Depreciation and capital allowances  14,142 18,970 
  Foreign exchange gains  135 -        
  IFRS 16, Leases  (     9,534) (     12,321) 
  Items not allowed for tax purposes  (     5,502) (     22,675) 

 Actual tax charge  1,355,342 1,221,622 

 Effective tax rate      24.99%     24.67% 
 
 
8. Earnings per ordinary stock unit 
 
 Earnings per ordinary stock unit is calculated as follows: 
 
  2022 2021 
 

 Profit for the year attributable to stockholders $4,073,279,000 3,738,276,000 
 Ordinary stock units in issue  4,854,400,000 4,854,400,000 
 Earnings per stock unit              83.91ȼ             77.01ȼ 

 
 
9. Employee benefits  
  

The Carreras Group Limited Superannuation Scheme (“the old scheme”) was discontinued with effect 
from  December 31, 2006 and is being wound up in accordance with the rules, applicable legislation and 
subject to the oversight of the Financial Services Commission (“FSC”).  Benefit improvements have been 
agreed for the pensioners, deferred pensioners and active members of the old scheme.   

 
A replacement fund, the Carreras Limited Superannuation Fund (“the new fund”) was established with 
effect from January 1, 2007.  The new fund is divided into two sections – a defined benefit (DB) section 
and a defined contribution (DC) section.  The employees who were members of the old scheme are now 
participating in the DB section of the new fund whilst the individuals employed after December 31, 2006, 
are participating in the DC section of the new fund.  
 

The liabilities in respect of current pensioners and deferred pensioners, who opted to transfer the value of 
their pension entitlement in the old scheme to the DB section of the new fund to provide for all future 
pension payments, have been transferred to the DB section.  The liabilities in respect of the active members 
who became members of the new fund and opted to transfer the total or a part of their past service to the 
new fund have also been transferred. 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
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9. Employee benefits (continued) 
  
 The amounts recognised are computed as follows:  
 
   The Group and the Company 
  2022 2021 
  $'000 $'000 
 

Pension benefits  (  83,600) (  92,500) 
Post employment health and group life insurance benefit  325,600 326,100 

 
 The amounts recognised are computed as follows: 
 

(i) Pension benefits:  
 

(a) Asset recognised in the statement of financial position:  
 

   The Group and the Company 
    2022 2021 
    $'000 $'000 
 

  Present value of funded obligations 3,666,000 3,632,200 
  Fair value of plan assets (6,220,300) (6,218,700) 

  Present value of net obligations (2,554,300) (2,586,500) 
  Unrecognised amount due to limitation 2,470,700 2,494,000 

  Asset recognised in statement of financial position (     83,600) (     92,500) 
 

(b) Movements in the net asset recognised in the statement of financial position: 
 

   The Group and the Company  
    2022 2021 
    $'000 $'000 

 
 Net asset at beginning of the year (92,500) (86,800) 
 Contributions paid (  1,200) (  1,300) 
 (Income)/expense recognised in the statement of  
    profit or loss and other comprehensive income 10,100 (  4,400) 

 Net asset at end of the year (83,600) (92,500) 
 

(c) Movements in present value of funded obligation: 
  The Group and the Company 

    2022 2021 
    $’000 $’000 

  
 Balance at start of year 3,632,200 3,254,400  
 Current service cost 9,900 8,200  
 Interest cost 300,300 205,200  
 Re-measurements - 
      Loss from change in financial assumptions (     58,000) 376,700  
 Members’ contributions 600 600  
 Benefits paid (   219,000) (   212,900)  

 Balance at end of year 3,666,000 3,632,200  
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9. Employee benefits (continued) 
 

(i) Pension benefits (continued):  
 

(d) Movements in plan assets: 
   The Group and the Company 
  2022 2021 
  $'000 $'000 
 
  Fair value of plan assets at beginning of the year 6,218,700 5,738,500 
  Interest income on plan assets 518,500 365,400 
 Contributions paid 3,000 3,200 
 Benefits paid (   219,000) (  212,900) 
 Administrative expenses (     21,400) (    24,400) 
 Remeasurement gain/(loss) on assets (   279,500)    348,900 

 Fair value of plan assets at end of the year 6,220,300 6,218,700 
 

Plan assets consist of the following: 
Equities 2,546,600 2,612,700 
Pooled pension investments 617,900 690,000 
Real property 729,800 685,500 
Resale agreements 84,000 36,800 
Government and corporate bonds 2,133,500 2,076,600 
Net current assets    108,500    117,100 

 6,220,300 6,218,700 
 

(e) Expense recognised in profit for the year: 
   The Group and the Company 
  2022 2021 
  $'000 $'000 
 
  Current service costs 8,700 6,900 
  Interest cost on obligation 300,300 205,200 
 Interest income on assets (518,500) (365,400) 
 Interest on effect of asset ceiling 212,000 155,800 
 Administrative expenses   21,400   24,400 

     23,900   26,900 
 

(f) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income: 
  2022 2021 
  $'000 $'000 
    

 Change in effect of asset ceiling (235,300) (  59,100) 
 Remeasurement loss/(gain) on plan assets 279,500 (348,900) 
 Remeasurement (gain)/loss on obligation (  58,000) 376,700 

 (  13,800) (  31,300) 
  

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2022



 
 
9. Employee benefits (continued) 
  

 The amounts recognised are computed as follows (continued): 
 

(i) Pension benefits (continued): 
 

(g) Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages): 
 

  2022 2021 
  % % 

  Discount rate  8.00 8.50 
  Future salary increases 6.00 6.50 

Future pension increases 5.00 5.50 
 
Assumptions regarding future mortality are based on GAM 94 Tables with ages reduced by 
five years (2021: five years).   
 
At March 31, 2022, the weighted average duration of the defined benefit obligation (pension 
fund) was 14 years (2021: 14 years).  In addition, the weighted average duration of the defined 
benefit obligation (medical and life) was 17 years (2021: 17 years). 
 

(h) Sensitivity analysis of principal actuarial assumptions: 
  

   The Group and the Company  
  One-half percentage  One-half percentage 
   point increase    point decrease  

    2022 2021 2022 2021 
    $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 
 Discount rate  (226,000) (226,200) 252,600 253,200 
 Salary increases 5,500 5,700 (    5,300) (    5,600) 
 Pension increases   246,700 246,900 (221,300) (221,100) 

 
(i) Plan assets include ordinary stock units issued by the company with a fair value of 

$307,301,000 (2021: $304,892,000).   
 

(ii) Post employment health and group life insurance benefits: 
 

(a) Liability recognised in the statement of financial position: 
  The Group and the Company 

    2022 2021 
    $'000 $'000 
 
 Present value of future obligations, being liability 
    recognised in statement of financial position   325,600 326,100 

 
 

Annual Report  | 108

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2022



109 |                                         Annual Report

 
 
9. Employee benefits (continued) 
 
 The amounts recognised are computed as follows (continued): 
 

(ii) Post employment health and group life insurance benefits: 
 

(b) Movements in the net liability recognised in the statement of financial position: 
 

  The Group and the Company 
    2022 2021 
    $'000 $'000 
  
 Net liability at the beginning of the year 326,100        257,700 

Contributions paid  (     9,800) (    9,100) 
Income recognised in the statement of profit or loss 

 and other comprehensive income         9,300    77,500 

 Net liability at the end of the year    325,600   326,100 

 

(c) Expense recognised in profit for the year: 
  The Group and the Company 
    2022 2021 
    $'000 $'000 
 

 Current service costs 18,500 12,700 
 Interest on obligation  28,900 17,300 

     47,400 30,000 

 
(d) Remeasurements recognised in other comprehensive income: 
 

  The Group and the Company 
    2022 2021 
    $'000 $'000 
 

 Remeasurement (gain)/loss on obligation  (38,100) 47,500 
 

(e) Principal actuarial assumptions at the reporting date (expressed as weighted averages): 
 

  2022 2021 
    % % 
 

   Discount rate  8.00 8.50 
   Annual increase in health-care cost                                                          7.00    7.50 

 
Actuarial assumptions regarding mortality, inflation, etc., follows the same basis on those 
outlined in note 9(i)(g). 
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9. Employee benefits (continued) 
 

 The amounts recognised are computed as follows (continued): 
 

(ii) Post employment health and group life insurance benefits (continued): 
 

(f) Sensitivity analysis of principal actuarial assumptions: 
 

   The Group and the Company  
  One-half percentage  One-half percentage 
   point increase    point decrease  

    2022 2021 2022 2021 
    $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 

 Discount rate  (25,900) (25,400) 29,800 28,800 
 Health-care cost increases 26,200 28,600 (29,100) (25,200) 
 Salary increases   3,500      100    3,300 (     100) 

 

Impact on post-employment obligation of a one year increase/decrease in life expectancy: 
 

The post-employment obligation would increase by about $104,700,000 (2021: $102,600,000) 
or decrease by about $105,000,000 (2021: $102,800,000).  In addition, the post-employment 
obligation (medical and life) would increase by about $10,900,000 (2021: $10,900,000) or 
decrease by about $10,800,000 (2021:$10,900,000). 

 

10 Property, plant and equipment 
 

 The Group and The Company: 

  Freehold land,  Machinery, 
  buildings and Work- furniture, equipment 
   leaseholds  in-progress and vehicles Total 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 Cost: 
  March 31, 2020 174,944   20,441 608,338 803,723 
  Additions 299 152,235 22,310 174,844 
  Transfers 89,066 (144,377) 55,311 -      
  Disposals       -             -       (  11,626) (    11,626) 

  March 31, 2021 264,309   28,299 674,333 966,941 
  Additions 7,185 180,192 13,085 200,462 
  Transfers 34,755 (160,658) 125,903 -     
  Disposals      -        (    2,511) (   27,583) (    30,094)  

  March 31, 2022 306,249  45,322    785,738 1,137,309  
 

 Depreciation: 
  March 31, 2020   93,313       -       333,939 427,252 
  Charge for the year 17,238   -       86,288 103,526 

 Eliminated on disposals       -             -       (    6,858) (    6,858) 
 

  March 31, 2021 110,551       -       413,369 523,920 
  Charge for the year 26,647   -       79,172 105,819 
  Eliminated on disposals       -             -       (   25,873) (   25,873)  

  March 31, 2022 137,198       -       466,668 603,866 

 Net book values: 

 March 31, 2022  169,051   45,322               319,070   533,443  

 March 31, 2021   153,758   28,299 260,964 443,021 

Freehold land, buildings and leaseholds for the group and the company include freehold land in the amount 
of $700 (2021: $700).  
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11. Leases  
 

The Group and The Company: 
 

(i) As a lessee 
 
The group and the company leases property and equipment. The leases typically run for 3 to 10 years, 
with options to renew. Some leases may have options for periodic rate adjustments to reflect market 
rentals. Some leases provide for additional rent payments that are based on changes in local price 
indices. Previously, these leases were classified as operating leases under IAS 17.   The group and the 
company has elected not to recognise right‑of‑use assets and lease liabilities for leases that are short‑ 
term and/or leases of low‑value items. 
 

Information about leases for which the group is a lessee is presented below. 
 

(a) Right-of-use assets  
   Leasehold land 
   and buildings
    
       $’000 

 Balance at April 1, 2020   222,423 
 Additions to right-of-use assets   110,967 
 Depreciation charge for the year   (  67,339) 

 Balance at March 31, 2021   266,051 
 Depreciation   (  38,181) 

 Balances at March 31, 2022   227,870 
 

(b) Lease liabilities 
 

Maturity analysis – contractual undiscounted cash flows: 
       2022      2021 
      $’000     $’000 

 Less than one year 49,484 48,171 
 One to five years 211,129 220,349 
 More than five years   68,075 107,262 

  338,688 375,782  
 Less: future interest (  70,340) (  86,223) 

 Total discounted lease liabilities at March 31 258,348 289,559 
 Less: current portion (  33,000) (  27,955) 

 Non-current 225,348 261,604 

 

(c) Amounts recognised in profit or loss 
 2022      2021 
 $’000     $’000 

 Interest on lease liabilities 18,370 20,584 
 Expenses relating to short-term leases    9,764   3,137 
  

(d) Amounts recognised in the statement of cash flows 
 2022      2021 
 $’000     $’000 

 Total cash outflow for leases    49,581   75,376 
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11. Leases (continued) 
 

The Group and The Company: 
 

(i) As a lessee (continued) 
 
(e) Extension options 

 
Some property leases contain extension options exercisable by the group up to one year before the 
end of the non-cancellable contract period. Where deemed appropriate, the group seeks to include 
extension options in new leases to provide operational flexibility. The extension options held are 
exercisable only by the group and not by the lessors. The group and the company assesses at lease 
commencement date whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the extension options. The group 
and the company reassesses whether it is reasonably certain to exercise the options if there is a 
significant event or significant changes in circumstances within its control. 
 
The group and the company have estimated that potential future lease payments, should it exercise 
extension options in these leases, would result in an increase in lease liability of $33,140,000 
(2021: $48,190,000). 

 
 

12. Cash and cash equivalents  
  The Group   The Company  
  2022 2021 2022 2021 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 
 Demand and call deposits 1,698,031 2,228,153 1,596,071 2,130,346 
 

The group and the company has given guarantees in the ordinary course of business under banking 
arrangements in favour of the Collector of Customs in the amount of $1,286,000,000 (2021: 
$1,674,000,000). 

 

 

13. Accounts receivable 
    The Group     The Company  
   2022 2021 2022 2021 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 
 Trade accounts receivable 1,146,693 1,145,697 1,146,693 1,145,697 
 Interest and other investment income receivable 1,427 14,599 1,427 14,599 
 Prepayments 174,161 167,276 174,161 167,276 
 Related parties 24,640 19,611 24,783 19,754 
 General consumption tax recoverable 62,401 -      62,401 -      

 Other receivables and advances:  
Other       56,034     18,143      56,034     18,143 

  1,465,356 1,365,326 1,465,499 1,365,469 
 Less: Allowance for impairment losses (      4,378) (      7,558) (      4,378) (      7,558) 

  1,460,978 1,357,768 1,461,121 1,357,911 
 

 
During the year, net bad debts recognised in profit or loss aggregated $3,472,000 (2021: $2,927,000) for 
the group and the company. 
 
Allowances for doubtful accounts are determined upon origination of the trade accounts receivable based 
on a model that calculates the expected credit loss (“ECL”) of the trade accounts receivable and are 
recognised over their term.  
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13. Accounts receivable (continued) 
 
Under this ECL model, the group and the company uses accounts receivable based on days past due and 
determines an average rate of ECL, considering actual credit loss experience over the last 12 months and 
analysis of future delinquency, that is applied to the balance of the accounts receivable. A weighted average 
ECL rate is used as at March 31, 2022 to apply against the accounts receivable balance (see note 18). 

 
 

14. Share capital 
 2022 2021
 $'000 $'000 
 Authorised: 

4,854,400,000 (2021: 4,854,400,000) ordinary shares of no par value 
 

Stated: 
 Issued and fully paid: 
 4,854,400,000 (2021: 4,854,400,000) stock units of no par value  121,360 121,360 
 
 
15. Deferred tax asset/(liability) 
 
 (a) Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following: 
   
 The Group and the Company : 

    Assets   Liabilities   Net  
   2022 2021 2022 2021 2022 2021 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 
 Accounts payable 3,812 3,861 -      -      3,812 3,861 
 Property, plant and equipment 19,230 21,631 -      -      19,230 21,631 
 Leases, net 7,608 5,877 -      -      7,608 5,877 
 Employee benefits 81,400 81,525 (20,900) (23,125) 60,500 58,400 
 Accounts receivable 853 1,439 (     356) (  3,650) 497 (  2,211) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange 
    gain/(loss)      -         4,059 (  1,724)      -     (   1,724)   4,059 

 Deferred tax asset/(liability) 112,903 118,392  (22,980) (26,775) 89,923 91,617 

 
(b) Movements in temporary differences during the year are as follows: 

 
   The Group and the Company: 

   2022  
    Recognised in   
  Opening Recognised profit or loss Closing 
  balance in equity [note 7(d)] balance 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

 

 Accounts payable 3,861 -      (       49) 3,812 
 Property, plant and equipment 21,631 -      (2,401) 19,230  
 Employee benefits 58,400 (12,975) 15,075 60,500 
 Leases, net 5,877 -      1,731 7,608 
 Accounts receivable (2,211) -      2,708 497 
 Unrealised foreign exchange (loss)/gain  4,059     -      (  5,783) (  1,724)  

   91,617 (12,975) 11,281 89,923  
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15. Deferred tax asset/(liability) (continued) 

 
(b) Movements in temporary differences during the year are as follows: 

 
   The Group and the Company: 

   2021  
    Recognised in  
  Opening Recognised profit or loss Closing 
  balance in equity [note 8(a)] balance 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 

   

 Accounts payable 2,992 -      869 3,861 
 Property, plant and equipment 19,670 -      1,961 21,631 
 Employee benefits 42,725 4,050 11,625 58,400 
 Leases, net 2,740 -      3,137 5,877 
 Accounts receivable (  1,146) -      (  1,065 (  2,211) 
 Unrealised foreign exchange gain (  7,972)       -      12,031   4,059 

   59,009    4,050 25,588 91,617 
 

(c) The group has not recognised a deferred tax asset arising in subsidiaries amounting to $194,370,000 
(2021: $194,370,000) in respect of unutilised tax losses of subsidiaries because it is not probable that 
the subsidiaries will have sufficient taxable profits in the foreseeable future to realise this benefit [see 
note 7(c)]. 

 
 
16. Accounts payable 
           The Group                 The Company   
   2022 2021 2022 2021 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 

 Trade accounts payable 52,313 97,009 52,313 97,009 
 General consumption tax payable -       62,792 -       62,792 
 Related parties (see also note 17) 227,083 587,362 227,083 587,362 
 Employee related 60,017 55,914 60,017 55,914 
 Unclaimed dividends* 456,527 449,110 456,527 449,110 
 Other    722,768    213,917    722,768    213,917 
  1,518,708 1,466,104 1,518,708 1,466,104 
 

 
*Article 117 of the Articles of Association provides that dividends declared after the date of adoption of this 
Article, which remain unclaimed after a period of twelve years from the date of declaration, shall be forfeited 
and revert to the company (see also note 5). 
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17. Related party transactions and statutory disclosures 

 
 The financial statements include the following transactions with related parties in the ordinary course of 

business: 
    The Group and the Company 
     2022 2021 
      $'000 $'000 
 
 Royalties   33,899 33,316 
 Purchases from related companies – cigarettes 833,928 707,244 
 Technical fees paid to ultimate parent company 199,192 174,931 
 Technical fees and business support services paid to other related company 174,230 104,421 
 IT support fees paid to other related company 187,060 155,330 
 Pension schemes: 
 Dividends paid   29,250 24,088 
 Directors’ remuneration: 
 Fees     9,787 10,857 
 Management remuneration   67,547 55,397 
 Key management personnel: 
      Short-term employee benefits   189,463 171,482 
  Post-employment benefits          400       -       
 
 All related party transactions were undertaken in the normal course of business.  
 
 Related party balances are shown in note 16 and are unsecured, interest free and repayable within 12 

months of the reporting date. 
 
18. Financial instruments and risk management 

 
The group has exposure to the following risks from its use of financial instruments: 
 

• Credit risk 

• Liquidity risk 

• Market risk 
 

This note presents information about the group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the group’s 
objectives, policies and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the group’s and the company’s 
management of capital. 

 
The Board of Directors has overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the group’s and 
the company’s risk management framework.  Senior management has responsibility for monitoring the 
group’s risk management policies and report to delegates of the Board of Directors on its activities, on a 
monthly basis. 

 
 The risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the group, to set 

appropriate risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits.  Risk management 
policies are reviewed on a regular basis and reflect changes in market conditions and the group’s activities. 
 
(i) Credit risk: 

 
Credit risk is the risk of loss arising from a counterparty to a financial contract failing to discharge 
its obligations, and arises principally from the group’s receivables from customers, cash and 
investment securities. 
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18. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

 
(i) Credit risk (continued): 

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is represented by the carrying value of 
its financial assets. 

 
 Trade receivables  

 

 The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each 
customer. Management has established a credit policy under which each customer is analysed for 
creditworthiness prior to being offered a credit facility. Each customer is given a credit period which 
represents the maximum time allowed for having balances outstanding; these are reviewed monthly. 
Management has procedures in place to restrict customer orders if the customers have not cleared 
outstanding debts within the credit period. Customers that fail to meet the group’s benchmark 
creditworthiness may transact business with the group on a cash basis. 

 
 The group’s average credit period on the sale of goods is 28 days for certain established large 

(wholesale) customers and 7 days for other (retail) customers.  Credit risk is monitored according 
to each customer’s characteristics, such as whether it is an individual or company, its geographic 
location, industry, aging profile and financial history.  

 
The maximum exposure to credit risk for trade receivables at the reporting date by type of customer 
was: 

 The Group and the Company  
    2022 2021  

     $'000 $'000  
 

Wholesale customers   879,809 856,616  
Retail customers      266,884    289,081  

   1,146,693 1,145,697  
 

The group and company uses an allowance matrix to measure expected credit losses (ECLs) in 
respect of trade receivables.  The provision matrix is based on its historical observed default rates 
over the expected life of the trade receivables and is adjusted for forward looking estimates. 

 
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade 
receivables as at March 31: 
 

The Group and the Company  
                       2022                       

  
 Weighted  Gross Impairment  
 average carrying loss Credit 

Age categories loss rate amount allowance impaired 
  $’000 $’000 

 
Current (not past due) 0.11% 1,009,130 1,092 No 
1 - 30 days 1.14% 133,073 1,513 No 
31-60 days 12.13% 3,957 480 No 
61-90 days 0% -     -   No 
Over 90 days 72.61%           533        387 Yes 

  1,146,693 3,472 
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18. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

 
(i) Credit risk (continued): 

 
The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade 
receivables as at March 31 (continued): 
 

The Group and the Company   
                     2021                       

  
 Weighted  Gross Impairment  
 average carrying loss Credit 

Age categories loss rate amount allowance impaired 
  $’000 $’000 
 

Current (not past due) 0.02% 954,414 146 No 
1 - 30 days 0.78% 165,918 1,315 No 
31-60 days 15.41% 22,760 3,507 No 
61-90 days 62.37% 42 27 No 
Over 90 days 100.00%        2,563 2,563 Yes 

  1,145,697 7,558 
 

 The movement in the allowance for impairment in respect of trade receivables during the year was 
as follows: 

 
 The Group and the Company  

    2022 2021 
   $'000 $'000 

 
Balance at 1 April             7,558                  4,631 
Impairment loss (reversed)/recognised (3,181) 2,927 

 Bad debts recovered  (   905)    -      
    

 Balance at 31 March  3,472 7,558 
 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
Management has an investment policy in place and the group’s and the company’s exposure to credit 
risk is monitored on an ongoing basis. Cash and cash equivalents are held with reputable financial 
institutions. Credit risk is considered to be low. The allowance for impairment is immaterial. 

 
(ii) Market risk: 

 
 Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates and interest rates, 

will affect the company’s income or the value of its holdings of financial instruments.  The objective 
of market risk management is to manage and control market risk exposures within acceptable 
parameters, while optimising the return on risk. 
 
(a) Interest rate risk: 

 
 Interest rate risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 

changes in market interest rates. 
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18. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 

 
(ii) Market risk (continued): 

 
(a) Interest rate risk (continued): 

 
At the reporting date the interest profile of the company’s and the group’s interest-bearing 
financial instruments was: 

 
   The Group   The Company  

   2022 2021 2022 2021 
   $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 

 Fixed rate instruments: 
  Cash and cash equivalents 809,022 793,775 706,617 698,438 
 

(b) Foreign currency risk: 
 

  The group incurs foreign currency risk primarily on purchases that are denominated in a 
currency other than the Jamaica dollar.  The principal foreign currency risks of the group, 
represented by balances in the respective currencies, are as follows: 
 
The Group: 

   2022   2021  
   US$ GBP (£) US$ GBP (£) 
   '000 '000 '000 '000 

 
Cash and cash equivalents  3,374    -  4,433 20  
Related party receivables  92 30  65 30  
Related party payables (1,448) (  3) (   471) (25)  
Other payables (     42)   -  (   229)   -   

Exposure, net 1,976 27 3,798 25  
 

  The Company: 

   2022   2021  
   US$ GBP (£) US$ GBP (£) 
   '000 '000 '000 '000 
 

Cash and cash equivalents  2,708    -  3,767 20 
Related party receivables  92 30 65 30 
Related party payables  (1,448) (  3) (   471) (25) 
Other payables (     42)   -  (   229)   -    

Exposure, net 1,310 27 3,132 25 
 
  Sensitivity analysis 

 

  Strengthening or weakening of the currencies against the Jamaica dollar would have 
increased profit or loss by the amounts shown below.  This analysis assumes that all other 
variables, in particular interest rates, remain constant.   
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18. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 

(ii) Market risk (continued): 
 

(a) Foreign currency risk (continued): 
 

The Group: 

  2022   2021  
 Increase/(decrease) in profit Increase/(decrease) in profit 

  8% 2% 4% 2% 
  Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 
 

US ($) 24,159 (6,039) 32,627 (10,876) 
GBP (£)      428 (   107)      287 (       96) 

 
The Company: 

  2022   2021  
 Increase/(decrease) in profit Increase/(decrease) in profit 

  8% 2% 4% 2% 
  Strengthening Weakening Strengthening Weakening 
  $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000  

 
US ($) 16,016 (4,004) 26,906 (  8,969) 
GBP (£)      428 (   107)      287 (       96) 

 
  Exchange rates, in terms of Jamaica dollars, were as follows: 

 

 US$ £ 
 

At March 31, 2022:  152.8316 198.2163 
At March 31, 2021:  143.1730 195.1613  
 

(iii) Liquidity risk: 
 

Liquidity risk, also referred to as funding risk, is the risk that the group will encounter difficulty in 
raising funds to meet commitments associated with financial instruments.  Liquidity problems may 
result from an inability to sell a financial asset quickly at, or close to, its fair value.  Prudent 
liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash and marketable securities, and 
ensuring the availability of funding through an adequate amount of committed facilities.  The group 
manages its liquidity risk by maintaining a substantial portion of its financial assets in highly liquid 
assets. 

 

 The contractual outflows as at March 31, 2022 and 2021 for trade accounts payable, General 
Consumption Tax payable, due to related parties, employee related payables, unclaimed dividends 
and other payables are represented by their carrying amounts and may require settlement within 12 
months of the reporting date. 

 

(iv) Capital management: 
 

 The group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a going 

concern in order to provide returns for shareholders. The Board of Directors monitors the return 

on capital, which the group defines as net operating income divided by total shareholders’ equity. 
 
 The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and 

market confidence and to sustain future development of the business.    
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18. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 

(iv) Capital management (continued): 
 

 There were no changes in the group’s approach to capital management during the year. Also, the 
group is not exposed to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

(v) Fair value disclosure: 
 

 Due to their short term nature, the amounts reflected in the financial statements for cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, related party balances, and accounts payable are considered to 
approximate to their fair values.  Additionally, the cost of all monetary assets and liabilities has been 
appropriately adjusted to reflect estimated losses on realisation or discounts on settlement.   

 
 
19. Dividends and distributions 
  2022 2021 
  $'000 $'000 
 Declared and paid: 
 First quarter ended June 30, 2021: 
 Ordinary – 25¢ (2020: 20¢)   1,213,600 970,880 
 Second quarter ended September 30, 2021: 
 Ordinary – 16¢ (2020: 12¢)   776,704 582,528 
 Third quarter ended December 31, 2021 : 
 Ordinary – 21¢ (2020: 17¢)   1,019,424 825,248 
 Fourth quarter ended March 31, 2022: 
 Ordinary – 23¢ (2021: 21¢)   1,116,512 1,019,424 

 Total dividends to stockholders   4,126,240 3,398,080 

 
 
20. Investment in subsidiaries 
 
 This represents costs of investment in subsidiaries as at the reporting period.   
  
 The subsidiary companies, all of which are incorporated in Jamaica, are as follows: 
 
   Percentage of ordinary shares held by  
 Name of company Principal activity   Company   Subsidiary  
     2022 2021 2022 2021 
     % % % % 
  
 Sans Souci Development  Dormant 100.00 100.00 - - 
  Limited and its subsidiary,   
    Sans Souci Limited Dormant      -           -      100.00 100.00 
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21. Significant accounting policies

Certain new and amended standards and interpretations came into effect during the current financial year.

The group has assessed them and has adopted those which are relevant to its financial statements. The

adoption did not result in any changes to the amounts recognised or disclosed in these consolidated

financial statements.

Set out below is an index of the significant accounting polices, the details of which are available on the

pages that follows:

(a) Basis of consolidation 121 

(b) Cash and cash equivalents 121 

(c) Accounts receivable 122 

(d) Accounts payable 122 

(e) Inventories 122 

(f) Investment in subsidiaries 122 

(g) Related parties 122-123

(h) Property, plant and equipment 123

(i) Income tax 124

(j) Foreign currencies 124

(k) Revenue recognition 124

(l) Other operating income 125

(m) Leases 125-126

(n) Employee benefits 126-127

(o) Impairment 127-129

(p) Determination of profit or loss 129

(q) Segment reporting 129

(r) Financial instruments 129-132

(s) Fair value 132

(t) Dividends and distributions 132

(a) Basis of consolidation:

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the company.  Control exists when the company has the power 

to govern the financial and operating policies of an entity so as to obtain economic benefits from its

activities.  The financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial

statements from the date that control commences until the date that control ceases.

The consolidated financial statements combine the financial position of the company and its

subsidiaries as at March 31, 2022 and their results of operations and cash flows for the year then

ended, after eliminating significant intra-group amounts. The company and its subsidiaries are

collectively referred to in the financial statements as “the Group”.

(b) Cash and cash equivalents:

Cash comprises cash in hand and demand and call deposits with banks.  Cash equivalents are short-

term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash, are subject

to an insignificant risk of changes in value, and are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash

commitments, rather than for investment or other purposes.  The amounts included are short-term

fixed deposits.
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21. Significant accounting policies (continued)

(c) Accounts receivable:

Trade and other receivables are measured at amortised cost, less impairment losses [see note 21(o)]. 

(d) Accounts payable:

Accounts payable are measured at amortised cost.

A provision is recognised in the statement of financial position when the group has a legal or

constructive obligation as a result of a past event, and it is probable that an outflow of economic

benefits will be required to settle the obligation and the amount can be estimated reliably.  If the

effect is material, provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-

tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate,

the risks specific to the liability.

(e) Inventories:

Inventories comprising finished products are measured at the lower of cost, determined principally

on the weighted average cost basis, and net realisable value.  Net realisable value is the estimated

selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated selling expenses.

(f) Investment in subsidiaries:

The company’s investment in subsidiaries is measured at cost.

(g) Related parties:

A related party is a person or company that is related to the entity which is preparing its financial

statements (referred to in IAS 24 Related Party Disclosures as the “reporting entity”).

(i) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to a reporting entity if that

person:

(a) has control or joint control over the reporting entity;

(b) has significant influence over the reporting entity; or

(c) is a member of the key management personnel of the reporting entity or of a parent of

the reporting entity.

(ii) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies:

(a) The entity and the reporting entity are members of the same group (which means that

each parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(b) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint

venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(c) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.
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21. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(g) Related parties (continued): 

 

(ii) An entity is related to a reporting entity if any of the following conditions applies: 

(d) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 

third entity. 

(e) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of employees of either the 

reporting entity or an entity related to the reporting entity.  If the reporting entity is 

itself such a plan, the sponsoring employers are also related to the reporting entity. 

(f) The entity is controlled, or jointly controlled, by a person identified in (i). 

(g) A person identified in (i)(a) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of 

the key management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity). 

(h) The entity or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 

services to the entity. 

 

A related party transaction is a transfer of resources, services or obligations between a reporting 

entity and a related party, regardless of whether a price is charged. 

 

The company has related party relationships with its ultimate parent company, British American 

Tobacco plc (BAT) and other subsidiaries and affiliates of the BAT Group, its subsidiaries, directors 

and key management personnel and companies with common directors, and its pension schemes. 

“Key management personnel” comprises the group’s leadership team which includes executive 

directors and specified senior officers. 

 

 (h) Property, plant and equipment: 

 

 Items of property, plant and equipment are measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 

impairment losses. 

 

  Cost includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.  The cost of 

replacing part of an item of property, plant and equipment is recognised in the carrying amount of 

the item if it is probable that the future economic benefits embodied in the part will flow to the group 

and its cost can be reliably measured. 

 

  The cost of day-to-day servicing of property, plant and equipment is recognised in profit or loss as 

incurred. 

 

  With the exception of freehold land and work-in-progress, on which no depreciation is provided, 

property, plant and equipment are depreciated on the straight-line basis over the estimated useful 

lives of such assets, at the following annual rates: 

 

  Buildings 1.4% to 2.5% 

  Leasehold improvements 8% to 11% 

  Right-of-use-assets 9% to 14% and 63% 

  Machinery, furniture and equipment 3.3% to 33.3% 

  Motor vehicles 20% to 33.3% 

  

  The depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reassessed annually at each reporting 

date. 
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21. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(i) Income tax: 

 

Income tax on profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax.  Income tax is 

recognised in  profit or loss except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity, 

in which case it is recognised in other comprehensive income. 

 

(i) Current income tax: 

 

Current income tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax 

rates enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to income tax payable in respect of 

previous years. 

 

(ii) Deferred income tax: 

 

  Deferred income tax is provided for temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 

assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation 

purposes.  The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation 

or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted at the 

reporting date. 

 

  A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable 

profits will be available against which the asset can be utilised.  Deferred tax assets are 

reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related tax benefit will be realised. 

 

  A deferred tax liability is recognised for all taxable temporary differences, except to the 

extent that the company is able to control the timing of the reversal of the temporary 

difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable 

future. 

 

 (j) Foreign currencies: 

 

  Transactions in foreign currencies are converted at the rates of exchange ruling on the dates of those 

transactions. The group’s monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the 

reporting date are translated to Jamaica dollars at the rates of exchange ruling at that date.  Gains 

and losses arising from fluctuations in exchange rates are included in profit or loss. 

 

 (k) Revenue recognition: 

 

Performance obligations and revenue recognition policies: 

 

Revenue is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract with a customer.  The group 

recognises revenue when it transfers control over a good or service to a customer. 

 

Nature and timing of satisfaction of performance obligations, including significant payment terms 

 

  Revenue is recognised at a point in time in the amount of the price before tax on sales expected to 

be received by the group for the supply of goods, as contractual performance obligations are 

fulfilled,when the goods are delivered and have been accepted by the customers. 

 

Invoices are usually payable within 7 to 45 days. 
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21. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

 (l) Other operating income: 

 

Other operating income is mainly comprised of interest income, gains on disposal of property, plant 

and equipment and refund of pension surplus.  Interest income is recognised as it accrues, using the 

effective interest method.   

 

(m) Leases: 

 

At inception of a contract, the group assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract 

is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 

period of time in exchange for consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to 

control the use of an identified asset, the group uses the definition of a lease in IFRS 16. 

 

i. As a lessee 

 

At commencement or on modification of a contract that contains a lease component, the group 

allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease component on the basis of its relative 

stand‑alone prices. However, for the leases of property the group has elected not to separate 

non‑lease components and account for the lease and non‑lease components as a single lease 

component. 

 

The right‑of‑use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight‑line method from the 

commencement date to the end of the lease term, unless the lease transfers ownership of the 

underlying asset to the group by the end of the lease term or the cost of the right‑of‑use asset 

reflects that the group will exercise a purchase option. In that case the right‑of‑use asset will 

be depreciated over the useful life of the underlying asset, which is determined on the same 

basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right‑of‑use asset is periodically 

reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease 

liability. 

 

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the scheduled lease payments, 

discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily 

determined, the group’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the group uses its incremental 

borrowing rate as the discount rate. 

 

The group determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various 

external financing sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and 

type of the asset leased. 

 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

 

– fixed payments, including in‑substance fixed payments; 

– variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index 

or rate as at the commencement date; 

– amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and 

– the exercise price under a purchase option that the group is reasonably certain to exercise, 

lease payments in an optional renewal period if the group is reasonably certain to exercise 

an extension option, and penalties for early termination of a lease unless the group is 

reasonably certain to terminate early. 
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21. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(m) Leases (continued): 
 

i. As a lessee (continued) 

 

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is 

remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index 

or rate, if there is a change in the group’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under 

a residual value guarantee, if the group changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a 

purchase, extension or termination option or if there is a revised in‑substance fixed lease 

payment. 

 

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the 

carrying amount of the right‑of‑use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount 

of the right‑of‑use asset has been reduced to zero. 

 

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets 

 

The group has elected not to recognise right‑of‑use assets and lease liabilities for leases of 

low‑value assets and short‑term leases, including IT equipment. The group recognises the lease 

payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight‑line basis over the lease term. 

 

(n) Employee benefits: 

  

 Employee benefits comprising pensions and other post-employment assets and obligations included 

in these financial statements have been actuarially determined by a qualified independent actuary, 

appointed by management. The appointed actuary’s report outlines the scope of the valuation and 

the actuary’s opinion. The actuarial valuations are conducted in accordance with IAS 19, and the 

financial statements reflect the group’s and the company’s post-employment benefits assets and 

obligations as computed by the actuary. In carrying out their audit, the auditors make use of the 

work of the actuary and the actuary’s report. 

 

(i) Pension assets: 

 

The company and its subsidiaries are participating employers in a pension scheme, the assets 

of which are held separately from those of the group, and remain under the full control of 

the appointed trustees. 

 

The group’s net obligation in respect of its defined benefit pension scheme is calculated by 

estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have earned in return for their service 

in the current and prior periods; that value is discounted to determine the present value, and 

the fair value of any scheme assets is deducted. To the extent that the obligation is less than 

the fair value of scheme assets, the asset recognised is restricted to the discounted value of 

unconditional future benefits available to the group in the form of any future refunds from 

the scheme or reductions in future contributions to the plan. To calculate the present value 

of economic benefits, consideration is given to any applicable minimum funding 

requirements. The discount rate applied is the yield at the reporting date on long-term 

government instruments that have maturity dates approximating the terms of the group’s 

obligation. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit 

method. 
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21. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(n) Employee benefits (continued): 

 

(i) Pension assets (continued): 

 

Remeasurements of the net defined benefit liability, which comprise actuarial gains and 

losses, the return on plan assets (excluding interest) and the effect of the asset ceiling (if 

any, excluding interest), are recognised immediately in other comprehensive income.  The 

company determines the net interest expense/(income) on the net defined benefit 

liability/(asset) for the period by applying the discount rate used to measure the defined 

benefit obligation at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined benefit 

liability/(asset), taking into account any changes during the period as a result of 

contributions and benefit payments.  Net interest expense and other expenses related to 

defined benefit plans are recognised in profit or loss. 
 

When the benefits of a plan are changed or when a plan is curtailed, the resulting change in 

benefit that relates to past service or the gain or loss on curtailment is recognised 

immediately in profit or loss.  The company recognises gains and losses on the settlement 

of a defined benefit plan when the settlement occurs. 

 

Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension schemes are recognised as an 

expense in profit or loss as incurred. 

 

(ii) Other post-retirement health and group life insurance benefits: 

 

The group provides post-retirement health care and group life insurance benefits, which are 

not entitlements, to certain of its retirees. These benefits are usually conditional upon the 

employee remaining in service up to retirement age and the completion of a minimum 

service period. The expected costs of these benefits are accrued over the period of 

employment, using a methodology similar to that for defined benefit pension plans and the 

present value of future benefits at the reporting date is shown as an obligation on the 

statement of financial position. 

 

Actuarial gains and losses are recognised in a manner similar to the defined benefit pension 

plan. 

 

(iii) Other employee benefits: 
 

Employee leave entitlements are recognised as they accrue to employees. A provision is 

made for the estimated liability for vacation and sick leave, as a result of services rendered 

by employees up to the reporting date. 

 

(o) Impairment: 
 

Financial assets 

The group recognises loss allowances for expected credit losses (ECLs) on financial assets measured 

at amortised cost. The company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs.  
 

Loss allowances for trade receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. 

 

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since initial 

recognition and when estimating ECLs, the company considers reasonable and supportable 

information relevant and available without undue cost or effort.  This includes both quantitative and 

qualitative information and analysis, based on the company’s historical experience and informed 

credit assessment and including forward looking information. 
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21. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(o) Impairment (continued): 

 

Financial assets (continued) 

 

The company assumes that the credit risk on financial assets has increased significantly if it is more 

than 90 days past due.  

 

The company recognises loss allowances for ECLs and considers a financial asset to be in default 

when: 

 

- the borrower is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the company in full, without recourse 

by the company to action such as realising security if any is held; or 

  

- the financial asset is more than 90 days past due. 

 

Life-time ECLs are the ECLs that result from all possible default events over the expected life of 

the financial instrument.   

 

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual period over 

which the company is exposed to credit risk. 
 

Measurement of ECLs 

 

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present 

value of all cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the entity in accordance 

with the contract and the cash flows that the company expects to receive).    

 

ECLs are discounted at the effective interest rate of the financial asset. 

 

Credit-impaired financial assets  
 

At each reporting date, the company assesses whether financial assets carried at amortised costs are 

credit-impaired.  A financial asset is ‘credit-impaired’ when one or more events that have a 

detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.  

 

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data: 

 

- significant financial difficulty of the borrower or issuer;  

- a breach of contract such as a default or past due event;  

- it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter bankruptcy or other financial 

reorganisation; or  

- the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.  

 

Presentation of allowance for ECL in the statement of financial position  
 

Loss allowances for financial assets measured at amortised cost are deducted from the gross carrying 

amount of the assets. 
 

Write-off 

 

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off (either partially or in full) when there 

is no reasonable expectation of recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This 

is the case when the company determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources of income 

that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This 

assessment is carried out at the individual asset level.  

Annual Report  | 128

Notes to the Financial Statements (Continued)
March 31, 2022



129 |                                         Annual Report

 

21. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(o) Impairment (continued): 
 

Financial assets (continued) 

Write-off (continued) 
 

Recoveries of amounts previously written off are included in ‘impairment losses on financial 

instruments’ in the statement of profit or loss. 

 

Financial assets that are written off could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply 

with the company’s procedures for recovery of amounts due.  

 

Non- financial assets  

 

The carrying amount of the group and company’s non-financial assets (other than inventories and 

deferred tax asset) are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any indication 

of impairment.  If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.  An 

impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit 

(CGU) exceeds its recoverable amount.  Impairment losses are recognised in profit or loss.  

 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less 

costs to sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present 

value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 

money and the risks specific to the asset.  For an asset that does not generate largely independent 

cash inflows, the recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset 

belongs. 

 

An impairment loss is reversed if there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the 

recoverable amount.  An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the assets’ carrying 

amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, if no impairment 

loss had been recognised. 

 

(p) Determination of profit or loss: 

 

 Profit is determined as the difference between the revenues from the goods and services rendered 

and the costs and other charges incurred during the year.  Profits on transactions are taken in the 

year in which they are realised.  A transaction is realised at the moment of delivery.  Losses are 

taken in the year in which they are realised or determinable.  

 

 (q) Segment reporting: 

 

  A segment is a distinguishable component of the group that is engaged either in providing products 

(business segment), or in providing products within a particular economic environment 

(geographical segment), which is subject to risks and rewards that are different from those of other 

segments. 
 

  The group’s activities are limited to the distribution of cigarettes to Jamaican consumers, operating 

in a single segment  As such no additional segment information is provided. 

 

 (r) Financial instruments: 

 

 A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset of one enterprise and a 

financial liability or equity instrument of another enterprise.  For the purpose of these financial 

statements, financial assets have been determined to include cash and cash equivalents and accounts 

receivable.  Similarly, financial liabilities mainly comprise accounts payable. 
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21. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

 (r) Financial instruments (continued): 

 

(i) Recognition and initial measurement 

 

 Trade receivables are initially recognised when they are originated. All other financial assets 

and financial liabilities are initially recognised when the company becomes a party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) 

or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at FVTPL, 

transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable 

without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price. 

 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement  

 

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at: amortised cost; fair value 

through other comprehensive income (FVOCI) – debt investment; FVOCI – equity 

investment; or fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL).  

 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the company 

changes its business model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial 

assets are reclassified on the first day of the first reporting period following the change in the 

business model. 

 

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions 

and is not designated as at FVTPL: 

 

- it is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual 

cash flows; and 

- its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of 

principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding (SPPI). 

 

Amortised cost represents the net present value (“NPV”) of the consideration receivable or 

payable as of the transaction date. This classification of financial assets comprises the 

following captions: 

 

 Cash and cash equivalents 

 Trade and other receivables 
 

Due to their short-term nature, the group initially recognises these assets at the original 

invoiced or transaction amount less expected credit losses. 

 

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above 

are measured at FVTPL.  On initial recognition, the company may irrevocably designate a 

financial asset that otherwise meets the requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at 

FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch 

that would otherwise arise. 
 

Financial assets – Business model assessment 
 

The group makes an assessment of the objective of the business model in which a financial 

asset is held at a portfolio level because this best reflects the way the business is managed 

and information is provided to management.  
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21. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

 (r) Financial instruments (continued): 

 

(ii) Classification and subsequent measurement (continued) 

 

Financial assets – Business Model assessment (continued)  

 

For the purposes of this assessment, ‘principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial 

asset on initial recognition. ‘Interest’ is defined as consideration for the time value of money 

and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount outstanding during a particular 

period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative 

costs), as well as a profit margin.  

 

Financial assets – Assessment whether contractual cash flows are solely payments of 

principal and interest 

 

The group’s objective is to hold financial assets to collect contractual cash flows.  In assessing 

whether the contractual cash flows are solely payments of principal and interest, the group 

considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This includes assessing whether the 

financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of 

contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition.  

 

Financial liabilities  

 

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and in the case of borrowings, 

plus directly attributable transaction costs.  The group’s financial liabilities, which mainly 

comprise accounts payables is recognised initially at fair value. 

 

Financial assets and liabilities – Subsequent measurement and gains and losses  

 

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the 

effective interest method. The amortised cost is reduced by impairment losses. Interest 

income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. 

Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss. 

 

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification as 

described in the particular recognition methods disclosed in the individual policy statements 

associated with each item. 
 

(iii) Derecognition   
 

 Financial assets 

 

The group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from 

the financial asset expire or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a 

transaction in which substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial 

asset are transferred or in which the group neither transfers nor retains substantially all of  

 

The group enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised on its statement of 

financial position, but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the 

transferred assets or a portion of them. In such cases, the transferred assets are not 

derecognised.  
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21. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 

(r) Financial instruments (continued): 
 

(iii) Derecognition (continued)  

 

Financial liabilities 

 

The group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged 

or cancelled, or expired.  

 

(iv) Offsetting 

 

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the 

statement of financial position when, and only when, the group currently has a legally 

enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net basis or 

to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.  

 

(s) Fair value: 

 

Definition of fair value: 

 

 Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an 

orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.  Market price is used to 

determine fair value where an active market exists as it is the best evidence of the fair value of a 

financial instrument. 

 

Determination of fair value: 

 

The group’s financial instruments lack an available trading market. The fair value of all financial 

instruments included in current assets and current liabilities are considered to approximate their 

carrying values, due to their short-term nature.  The fair values of amounts due from and due to 

subsidiary companies are assumed to approximate carrying values.   

 

 (t) Dividends and distributions: 

 

  Dividends and distributions are recognised in the period in which they are declared. 
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22. New and amended standards issued but not yet effective 
 

 

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, certain new and amended standards and 

interpretations have been issued which were not effective for the current year and which the group has not 

early-adopted. The group has assessed them with respect to its operations and has determined that the 

following are relevant: 

 

• Amendments to IAS 37 Provision, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets is effective for annual 

periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 and clarifies those costs that comprise the costs of 

fulfilling the contract.  

 

The amendments clarify that the ‘costs of fulfilling a contract’ comprise both the incremental costs – 

e.g. direct labour and materials; and an allocation of other direct costs – e.g. an allocation of the 

depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment used in fulfilling the contract. This 

clarification will require entities that apply the ‘incremental cost’ approach to recognise bigger and 

potentially more provisions. At the date of initial application, the cumulative effect of applying the 

amendments is recognised as an opening balance adjustment to retained earnings or other component 

of equity, as appropriate. The comparatives are not restated. 

 

The group is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2023 financial statements. 

 

• Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements are effective for annual periods beginning 

on or after January 1, 2023 and may be applied earlier. The amendments help companies provide 

useful accounting policy disclosures. 
 

The key amendments to IAS 1 include: 
 

• requiring companies to disclose their material accounting policies rather than their significant 

accounting policies; 

• clarifying that accounting policies related to immaterial transactions, other events or conditions are 

themselves immaterial and as such need not be disclosed; and 

• clarifying that not all accounting policies that relate to material transactions, other events or 

conditions are themselves material to a company’s financial statements. 

 

The amendments are consistent with the refined definition of material: 

 

“Accounting policy information is material if, when considered together with other information 

included in an entity’s financial statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions that 

the primary users of general purpose financial statements make on the basis of those financial 

statements”. 

 

The group is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2024 financial statements. 
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22. New and amended standards issued but not yet effective (continued): 

 

• Amendments to IAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors are effective 

for periods beginning on or after  January 1, 2023, with early adoption permitted. The amendments 

introduce a new definition for accounting estimates: clarifying that they are monetary amounts in the 

financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. 

 

The amendments also clarify the relationship between accounting policies and accounting estimates by 

specifying that a company develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out by an 

accounting policy 

 

Developing an accounting estimate includes both: 

• selecting a measurement technique (estimation or valuation technique) – e.g. an estimation 

technique used to measure a loss allowance for expected credit losses when applying IFRS 

9 Financial Instruments; and 

• choosing the inputs to be used when applying the chosen measurement technique – e.g. the 

expected cash outflows for determining a provision for warranty obligations when applying IAS 

37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

 

The effects of changes in such inputs or measurement techniques are changes in accounting  estimates. 

The group is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2024 financial statements. 
 

• Amendments to IAS 12 Income Taxes are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 

January 1, 2023, with early adoption permitted. The amendments clarify how companies should 

account for deferred tax on certain transactions – e.g. leases and decommissioning provisions. 

 

The amendments narrow the scope of the initial recognition exemption (IRE) so that it does not apply 

to transactions that give rise to equal and offsetting temporary differences. As a result, companies will 

need to recognise a deferred tax asset and a deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising on 

initial recognition of a lease and a decommissioning provision. 

For leases and decommissioning liabilities, the associated deferred tax asset and liabilities will need 

to be recognised from the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, with any cumulative 

effect recognised as an adjustment to retained earnings or other components of equity at that date. If a 

company previously accounted for deferred tax on leases and decommissioning liabilities under the 

net approach, then the impact on transition is likely to be limited to the separate presentation of the 

deferred tax asset and the deferred tax liability. 

For all other transactions, the amendments apply to transactions that occur after the beginning of the 

earliest period presented. 

The group is assessing the impact that this amendment will have on its 2024 financial statements 
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING 
Form of Proxy

I/We__________________________________________________________________________________ 

of_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

being a Member/Members of Carreras Limited hereby appoint 

______________________________________________________________________________________

of ____________________________________________________________________________________

or failing him/her______________________________________________________________________

of____________________________________________________________________________________

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us on my/our behalf at the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held via a hybrid session on Friday, September 9, 2022 at 2:00 p.m and at 
any adjournment thereof.

 SIGNED this____________day of________________________2022.

SIGNATURE OF SHAREHOLDER ______________________________________________________

RESOLUTIONS FOR AGAINST

1

2

3  (a) (i)

3  (a) (ii)

3  (b)

4

5 

 NOTE:                                                                                                                                             

1. Where a proxy is appointed by a corporate member, this form should be executed 
        under seal. A Proxy need not be a member of the Company.

2.   To be valid, the form of proxy must be completed and deposited with the Registrar and Transfer Office:
       Sagicor Bank Jamaica Limited, Group Legal Trust & Corporate Services, 28 – 48 Barbados Avenue, 
       Kingston 5 not less than 48 hours (excluding non-business days) before the time fixed for holding 
       the Meeting. 

3.   The form of proxy should bear stamp duty of $100.00. The stamp duty may be paid by adhesive stamps 
 which should be affixed to this Form.

Place
Stamp

here
$100








